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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW 

VISION 

To know and conserve our past and present for the future. 

MISSION 

1be mission of the McGregor Museum is to research and conserve the natural and cultural 
history and diversity of the Northen Cape, and promote an awareness thereof through 
service excellence. 

VALUES 

The values of the South African Constitution 

The Batho Pele principles 

Transformation by ensuring access, redress and objectivity 

Accountability and transparency 

Service excellence 

LEGISL ATIVE AND OTHER M ANDATES 

The legislative framework that guides the McGregor Museum is the Museum Ordinance 
No. 8 of 1975 and the Public Finance Management Act of 1999. 



ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Ass.l\fanager 

Profe!o-sion 

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON 

This submission is done in accordance with the provisions of the Public 
Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 1 of 1999). We have the pleasure in 
laying before the Provincial Legislature a report of the activities of the 
McGregor Museum for the financial year that ended on 31 March 2015. 

In May 2014 the museum was listed as a Provincial Public Entity (back 
dated to 1 April 2014). In previous years the Board, as accounting 
authority, was not totally in charge of the institution and had to share 
the responsibility with its parent department. The fact that the listing 
came a full two months after the start of the 2014/2015 financial year 
and that no additional funding was received to implement the legislative 
requirements of a listed entity has meant that the McGregor Museum 
has not yet become a fully operational entity. With further support from 
the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture the McGregor Museum 
entity should become fully operational in the 2016/2017 financial year. 

The museum continued, despite limited resources, to fulfil its core 
functions of research, collections management and educational 
outreach. National imperatives like nation building and social cohesion 
received attention through our outreach programmes but these are still 
hampered by resource constraints. 

The Board has voiced a serious concern regarding the loss of skilled and 
specialist staff that has reached high levels at the Museum. This hampers 
the work of the Board as the Museum cannot operate according to its 
mandate if it lacks both financial and human resources. The McGregor 
Museum needs serious financial support to not only comply with the 
legislative requirements bestowed on a public entity but also to acquire 
staff with the skills and expertise necessary to drive its strategic plan to 
conserve and promote our country's heritage. 

Public relations and making the museum more visible to the various 
communities we serve will be uppermost in the new financial year. Our 
success will be dependent on us ensuring that the museum does not 
become static but remains a vibrant institution focussing on the cultural 
and natural heritage of our province. 

A...-..s. Manager 

Corporate 

Our research, outreach programmes and the use of our various 
collections should be the link between ourselves and the communities 
we serve. 'lbese should be the instruments we use in our transformative 
process. 

In September 2014 after 14 years of dedicated service Mr Colin Fortune 
retired as director of the McGregor Museum. On behalf of the Board 
and the museum staff I would like to convey my sincere appreciation for 
his hard work and selfless dedication to maintain and improve on the 
work done by his predecessors at the museum. 

In December 2014 the Museum Board lost a valuable longstanding 
member when Mr Randall Bruce passed away. Mr Bruce enthusiastically 
supported the museum and Museum Board on which he served for 21 
years and will be missed by the Board and museum staff. 

I would like to acknowledge the support given to this institution by 
the MEC of Sport, Arts and Culture and its parent department, the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. The support of the Board 
members and museum staff is greatly appreciated. A word of thanks 
must also go to the numerous institutions, sponsors and donors who 
supported us over the past year. 

Mr K. Mathews 
Chairperson McGregor Museum Board 

Date: 31 August 2015 



MANAGER'S OVERVIEW 

It is an honour to present the 2014/15 annual report of the McGregor 
Museum. Our achievements during this financial year are indicative 
of the transformation that has taken place over the past number of 
years. Museum activity in South Africa is aligned with the National 
Development Plan (NDP), as prescribed, with its twelve outcomes 
now expanded to fourteen. We are expected specifically to help fulfil 
Government Outcome 14 - "transforming society and uniting the 
country" by the achievement of equal opportunities, of inclusion and 
redress; and the promotion of social cohesion. We are to "honour and 
celebrate our collective heritage by promoting our diverse cultural 
identities" and to "promote our new museums and monuments and 
preserve existing ones to depict and preserve the heritage of our people:' 

Despite financial challenges the museum managed to undertake many 
significant projects. One of the museum's collaborative fieldwork, 
storytelling and publication programmes centred on the rock art and 
landscapes of Biesje Poort near Kakamas. The book Engraved Landscape: 

Biesje Poort - Many Voices, in which Dr David Morris served as one of 
the editors and a contributor (along with Koot Msawula), was launched 
at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery as an International Museum Day event 
in May 2014. Partners from the ;,Khomani community, and from the 
Universities of KZN, Pretoria and Cape Town, came together for the 
occasion. 

The Museum, as a member of the First World War Centenary 
Partnership, led by the Imperial War Museum, commemorated the 
centenary of the First World War with the opening of a new exhibition 
on 4 August 2014. The display focuses on South Africa's involvement 
in the War with specific emphasis on the Northern Cape and includes 
the role of Sol Plaatje, the Cape Corps and the South African Native 
Labour Contingent. An educational pamphlet on the First World War 
was also produced and circulated to school groups. Numerous visitors 
from all over South Africa and overseas have since viewed the display. 
In October 2014 an exciting temporary exhibition titled For Furture 
Generations was opened at tl1e Duggan-Cronin Gallery. The exhibition 
showcased the collection of the International Library of African Music 
(ILAM) at Rhodes University in Grahamstown. The exhibition is 
touring venues throughout South Africa, and makes use of artefacts, 
photographs as well as audio-visual features to give visitors a picture of 
the history of African Music. 

The McGregor Museum also hosted the launch of the first ever children's 
dictionary in a San language. At the same time local San participants 
were invited to the Wildebeest Kuil Rock Art Centre to hear about the 
creation of mother tongue materials in San languages using Ju 'hoansi as 
an example for !Xun and Khwe. 

Educational outreach remains a priority for the museum but with 
only one education officer it is not always easy to do justice to this 
programme. By providing free access to the museum and with tl1e 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture sponsoring transport more 
than 2000 school learners from various schools in the Kimberley area, 
including Herlear Primary, Tlhomelang High School, Venus Primary, 
Thabane High School, Masiza Primary and Endeavour Primary, visited 
tl1e McGregor Museum during March 2015. This proved to be a very 
successful outreach programme and the museum plans to continue witl1 
similar outreach projects in 2015/2016. 

As a museum we are tasked to conserve and preserve the national 
estate for posterity and to share the knowledge gleaned from our 
various collections with those we serve. We are the largest and most 
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are not only valuable to the Northern Cape but also to the rest of tl1e 
country and the world. This can be attested to by the many national and 
international researchers that came to the museum in this financial year. 

Our collections, even though hamstrung by a lack of professional 
conservators, are receiving attention. The situation is far from ideal 
but the few dedicated staff members truly exert themselves to maintain 
the collections as best they can. To really do justice to the national 
estate professional conservator posts need to be filled with extreme 
urgency. Some of our collections have also remained static for the 
reasons mentioned above and also because of a lack of researchers. The 
dwindling budget and lack of professional staff also need to be addressed. 
Two critical disciplines for our province, anthropology and botany, have 
been severely affected through the resignation of researchers, and the 
subsequent defunding of their posts. 

Through partnerships witl1 various national and international 
institutions the museum continued with a number of important 
research projects. Our archaeology and zoology departments have 
some longstanding collaborative research agreements with overseas 
partners including work revolving around tl1e archaeological sites 
of Kathu and Wonderwerk Cave, co-ordinated by Michael Chazan 
(Toronto University) and Liora Kolska Horwitz Jerusalem. Our history 
department has consistently been involved with community outreach 
programmes and relevant historical events which have resulted in 
temporary as well as permanent exhibitions. In all our exhibitions and 
publications we have been well-supported by a willing and competent 
art department. 

The maintenance of our properties has always been problematic because 
of financial constraints, but the problem has been further compounded 
by the death of another member of the maintenance team. This left 
the museum's maintenance unit with only one Senior Foreman. This 
vacancy, as with the previous years' vacancies, has not yet been filled. 
Lack of adequate funding remains one of the major problems ti1at the 
McGregor Museum is facing. If not addressed soon it will result in the 
loss of the few remaining professional staff and this could cause serious 
problems in the Museum's ability to carry out its mandate. It will also 
impact negatively on ti1e Museum's ability to comply with ti1e Public 
Finance Management Act and the implementation of sound corporate 
governance. 

The institution is facing a furti1er challenge witi1 the opening of ti1e Sol 
Plaatje University in Kimberley and the introduction of Heritage and 
Museum studies as a discipline. Alti1ough excited by the prospect of 
more trained museum professionals becoming available for ti1e Northern 
Cape and Soutl1 Africa, ti1e current critical shortage of professional 
staff hinders ti1e important role ti1e museum could and should play in 
assisting witi1 ti1e practical training and lecturing of students. 

In conclusion I would like to tl1ank the MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture, 
the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, the McGregor Museum 
Board of Trustees and my colleagues for their continued commitment 
and support. 

Sunet Swanepoel 

Acting Manager 

Date: 31 August 2015 





STATEMENT OF 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR 

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Statement of Responsibility for Performance 

Information for the year ended 31 March 2015 

The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 1999, (Act No. 

1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Board to ensure that the 
McGregor Museum keeps full and proper records of its financial 

affairs. The annual financial statements should fairly present the 
state of affairs of the museum, its financial results, its performance 
against predetermined objectives and its financial position at the 
end of the year in terms of the prescribed Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP). 

The annual financial statements are the responsibility of 

the Board. The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) is 

responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 

financial statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practices, including any interpretation of such statements issued 
by the Accounting Standards Board. These annual financial 
statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements. 

The Board has reviewed the McGregor Museum's budgets and 
cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2015. On the 
basis of this review, and in view of the current financial position, 
the Board has every reason to believe that it will be a going 
concern in the year ahead. 

The Board sets standards to enable management to meet the 
above responsibilities by implementing systems of internal 
control and risk management, where possible, that are designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement and losses. The museum maintains internal 
financial controls to provide assurance against unauthorised use 
of assets and maintains proper accounting records. 

In the opinion of the Board, based on the information available 
to date, the annual financial statements fairly present the 

financial position of the McGregor Museum at 31 March 2015. 

Sunet Swanepoel 

Acting Manager 

Date: 31 August 2015 

AUDITOR'S REPORT: PREDETERMINED 

OBJECTIVES 

The entity-specific legislation does not require the reporting 
on performance against predetermined objectives. The entity's 

performance objectives for 2014/2015 were still included in the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture's Annual Performance 
Plan. 

OVERVIEW OF 

PERFORMANCE 

PUBLIC ENTITY'S 

3.1 Service Delivery Environment 

The McGregor Museum's mandate is not only to conserve and 
preserve the cultural and natural heritage of the Northern 
Cape and South Africa, but also to make our knowledge and 

collections accessible through various museum-related activities. 

We therefore seek in all our activities to change the perception 
of museums, to ensure museums are accessible, and to connect 
with as many people as possible in the Northern Cape and South 
Africa so that their lives can be enriched. 

Together with the Executive Authority (Northern Cape 
Department Sport, Arts and Culture) the museum seeks to 
support Government's new National Development Plan. Social 
Cohesion and Nation Building has been given significance 
nationally in a separate Outcome 14 (Transforming society 
and uniting the Country) which translates the intentions of the 
National Development plan in to practice. 

The McGregor Museum is presently the only multi-disciplinary 
research institution in the Northern Cape. Its core functions 
(research, conservation and outreach) are hampered as a result of 
human and financial constraints. Even with these constraints the 
museum has had some major successes such as the development 
of new displays and being able to bring to the province major 
national travelling exhibitions. 

The McGregor Museum continues to be a centre for research 
excellence. Over the past three years our researchers have made 
tremendous contributions to the developing of heritage in our 
country through their undertaking of research and improvement 
of the museum's collections. The results of such research have 
in most cases been disseminated in the form of publications 

in internationally renowned journals, popular articles and 
exhibitions. 

The maintenance of museum infrastructure is a serious challenge 
as a number of museum buildings date to the Victorian period 
and are expensive to maintain. All these buildings form part of 
the tourism fabric of Kimberley and the Northern Cape and 

therefore cannot be allowed to deteriorate. 

A serious problem still faced by the entity is the defunding of 
critical posts resulting in research and service delivery being 
compromised. 

3.2 Organisational Environment 

The museum presently has 30 permanent staff members as 
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to comply with various Public Finance Management and 
Treasury Regulation prescripts and hamper the institution in 
fully achieving its strategic goals. The lack of staff, especially 
front desk and cleaning staff, has forced museum management 
to close certain museums, opening only upon request. This 
situation leads to much frustration from tourists and tour guides. 

Lack of adequate funding remains one of the major problems that 
the McGregor Museum is facing. If not addressed soon it will 
result in the loss of the few remaining professional staff and this 
could cause serious problems in the Museum's ability to carry 
out its mandate. It will also impact negatively on the Museum's 
ability to comply with the PFMA and the implementation of 
sound corporate governance. 

3.3 Key Policy Developments and 
Legislative Changes 

Currently most policies adopted at our parent department are 
implemented at the entity. 

3.4 Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals 

Due to the fact that the entity was only listed after the start of the 
new financial year, its strategic goals are still linked to that of our 
parent department. 

4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME

Strategic objectives, performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Strategic objectives 

Programme Name 

Strategic objectives Actual Planned Target Actual Deviation from Comment on deviations 
Achievements 2014/2015 Achievements planned target 

2013/2014 2014/2015 to Actual 
Achievement 

Providing a The estimated visitor number 
transformed was exceeded by a mere 12, 
museum service 11986 15500 15512 12 which is acceptable as visitor 
by increasing the numbers cannot be estimated 
number of visitors accurately. 

Providing outreach More outreach programmes 
programmes to could be done on request 
learners, educators 7 9 13 4 through collaboration with 
and the public other stakeholders and very 

little cost. 

Provide brochures 
and publications for 
public consumption 2 4 4 0 

Provide exhibitions Additional exhibitions could 
for public viewing 4 2 4 2 be done in collaboration with 

internal and external partners 
at no extra cost. 

Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Programme/Sub-programme 

Performance indicator Actual Planned Actual Deviation Comment on deviations 

Achievement target Achievement from planned 

2013/2014 2014/2015 2014/2015 target to Actual 
Achievement 

Number of quarterly 
performance reports 4 4 4 0 

submitted by due date 



Programme/Sub-programme 

Percentage expenditure 
achieved as planned per 100% 100% 
quarter 

Percentage EPMDS 
completed for unit 100% 100% 

Percentage of concluded 
PDPs submitted to HR 100% 100% 

Number of vacant 
funded posts activated 
for filling 

2 4 

Number of collections 
5 

maintained 5 

Number of people 
visiting museums 

11 986 15 500 

Number of exhibitions 
staged 

4 2 

Number of outreach 
programmes 
implemented 7 9 

Number of brochures 
and publications 2 4 
distributed 

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 
No under performance. 

Changes to planned targets 
No changes were made. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme Name Budget 

Expenditure from 
2953 

Provincial subsidy 

Expenditure from own 
528 

revenue sources 

Total 3481 

2014/2015 

Actual 
Expenditure 

2999 

574 

3573 

100% 0 

100% 0 

100% 0 

Parent department, Sport, 
Arts and Culture appoint 

0 4 
staff and second same to 
museum. This did not 
occur. 

5 0 

The estimated visitor 
number was exceeded 
by a mere 12, which 

15 512 12 is acceptable as visitor 
numbers cannot be 
estimated accurately. 

Additional exhibitions 
could be done in collabo-

4 2 ration with internal and 
external partners at no 
extra cost. 

More outreach pro-
grammes could be done on 

13 4 request through collabora-
tion with other stakehold-
ers and very little cost. 

4 0 

2013/2014 

(Over) /Under Budget Actual (Over)/Under 
Expenditure Expenditure Expenditure 

-46 2 913 2 938 -25

-46 521 532 -11

-92 3434 3470 -36



5. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5.1 Revenue Collection

Donations 

Sale of goods and 
rendering of services 

Rental of facilities and 
equipment 

Investment income 

Proceeds of insurance 
claims 

Transfer payment 

Total 

Budget 

27 

293 

190 

100 

21 

2953 

3584 

5.2 Programme Expenditure 

2014/2015 

Budget 

Employee costs 891 

Repairs and 
241 

maintenance 

Contracted services 0 

Grants paid 87 

General expenses 2122 

Finance costs 14 

Equipment 126 

Impairment loss 0 

Total 3481 

2014/2015 

Actual 

70 

307 

193 

83 

31 

2953 

3637 

Actual 

854 

290 

0 

87 

2202 

14 

126 

0 

3573 

2013/2014 

(Under) /Over Budget Actual (Under) /Over 

43 -11 10 -1

14 216 223 7 

3 157 164 7 

-17 91 92 1 

10 0 0 0 

0 2 913 2 913 0 

53 3 388 3 402 14 

2013/2014 

(Over) /Under Budget Actual (Over)/ Under 

37 854 854 0 

-49 267 267 0 

0 102 102 0 

0 79 79 0 

-80 2049 2073 -24

0 0 0 0

0 83 83 0

0 0 12 -12

-92 3434 3470 -36





1. INTRODUCTION

The McGregor Museum Board recognises good governance 
and compliance practices are crucial for the continued 
development of the McGregor Museum and is committed 
to instilling it in all its operations. 

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES

The McGregor Museum appears before the Portfolio 
Committee for Sport, Arts and Culture as part of its parent 
department. 

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

The McGregor Museum is included in the Annual Reports, 

Strategic Plans and Annual Performance Plans of the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. Performance 

information is therefore submitted to the Department on 

a quarterly basis. Every attempt is made to comply with 
legislation, regulations and prescripts. It should however be 
understood that a small entity such as this has to comply 
with the same legislative requirements as those receiving 

Composition of the Board 

Designa-tion 

(in terms of 
Date Date 

Name the Public 
appointed resigned 

Entity Board 

structure) 

Mr K. Mathews I Chairperson 15/10/11 

Mr D. Allen 15/10/11 

Mr R. Bruce2 
15/10/11 

Mr B. Maribe 01/02/12 

MsM.Moloi 01/02/12 

MsJ. Ntwane 01/02/12 

MrM. 15/10/11 

Setlogelo 

MrT. 15/10/11 

Thobeli 

Committees 

very generous allocations from government. The human 
resource and financial constraints we experience make it 
very difficult to comply. 

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD

Introduction 

The Board is the accounting authority and is answerable 
to the MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture. It has financial 
oversight in all matters regarding the running of the entity. 
It has to oversee the strategic direction and objectives of the 

entity as received from the MEC for Sport, Arts and Culture. 

The role of the Board is as follows: 

Hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and 
immovable property of whatever kind; 

Receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, 

collections or other movable property placed under 
care and management; 
Keep a record of the property of the institution. 

Board 
Other 

Commit-
Qualifi-

Director-
tees (e.g. 

No.of 

cations 
Area of Expertise ships (List 

Audit 
meetings 

the enti-
Commit-

attended 
ties 

tees) 

MEC Appointee 5 

Quantity Surveyor 4 

Accountant 2 

Councillor 2 

Executive Mayor 1 

MEC Appointee 
0 

Heritage consultant 

MEC Appointee 
1 

MEC Appointee 
3 

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members 

EXCO 0 6 Mr K. Mathews 
Mr D. Allen 
Mr R. Bruce 
Ms J. Ntwane 

Mr M. Setlogelo 
Mr T. Thobeli 
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Remuneration of the Board 

Members do not receive any remuneration as this is not 
provided for in Museum Ordinance No. 8 of 1975. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT

Due to lack of resources the museum's risk management 
resided under the auspices of the parent department, the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

6. INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

The entity is unable to put in place an internal audit control 
unit as the finance section comprises one official with no 
assistance and this is as a result of vacancies not being filled by 
the parent department. 

7. INTERNALAUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES

No internal auditing is done as there is no 
internal audit committee. 

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND

REGULATIONS

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. l of 1999), 
as amended, requires the Board to ensure that the McGregor 
Museum keeps full and proper records of its financial affairs. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices. These annual financial statements 
are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

9. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The entity in this financial year still adhered to the fraud 
and corruption policy of the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture. No incidents of fraud or corruption occurred during 
the year under review. 

10. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Service providers used are vetted and none are used that have 
any affiliation to staff. 

ll. CODE OF CONDUCT

The entity in this financial year still adhered to the Department 
of Sport, Arts and Culture's code of conduct. 

12. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL

ISSUES 

Health and Safety issues are dealt with by our parent 
department, the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

13. COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY

The Board does not employ a secretary.

Social responsibility matters form part of our mandate and is 
addressed through our outreach and educational programmes. 

15. AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

No Audit Committee was appointed. 

The Effectiveness of Internal Control 

All financial transactions are approved by management and 
two signatories are required, one being a manager and the 
other a Board member. No material payments are made from 
cash. Requisitions for S & Ts are approved by senior officials 
(Deputy Director, Assistant Director and Finance Officer) 
before being paid out. Bank reconciliations are performed and 
reviewed. 

In-year Management of Monthly/Quarterly Report 

Presently management reports to its parent department 
(Department Sport, Arts and Culture) on a quarterly basis and 
the report is included in that of the department. 





1. INTRODUCTION

The majority of employees are state employees rece1vmg 
their remuneration from the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture. All HR matters are currently still being referred to 

the parent department. Posts are filled, or not filled, at the 
discretion of the Department. All staff performance and 
wellness matters are dealt with by the parent department. 

Personnel Cost of Contract and Casual Staff 

Progamme Total Expenditure 
Personnel Expendi-

Contract & Casual for the entity 
ture (RO'OOO) 

Personnel (RO'OOO) 

R4833 R 983 

Personnel cost by salary band 

2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

The entity's staff complement is seconded from its parent 
department, viz. the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 
1he cost thereof is reflected in the Annual Report of the parent 
department. 

Due to staff shortages the entity is compelled to employ contract 
workers to supplement its workforce. 

Personnel expen- Average personnel 
ditrue as a % of No. of employees cost per employees 

total exp. (RO'OOO) (RO'OOO) 

20% 27 R36 

Personnel cost by salary band still resides with the parent department. 

Performance Rewards 
Performance rewards still reside with the parent department. 

Training Costs 
Training of personnel still resides with the parent department. 

Employment and vacancies 
The filling, or not filling of posts, still resides with the parent department. 

2013/2014 
2014/2015 2014/2015 2014/2015 

Programme No.of 
Approved Posts No. of Employees Vacancies 

% of vacancies 
Employees 

Top 
1 1 0 1 100 

Management 

Senior 
1 3 1 2 66 

Management 

Professional 
7 11 7 4 36 

qualified 

Skilled 10 14 9 5 36 

Semi-skilled 6 17 6 11 65 

Unskilled 9 17 7 10 58 

TOTAL 34 63 30 33 52% 

Employment changes 

Salary Band Employment at Appointments Terminations Employment at end of 
beginning of period period 

Top Management 1 0 1 0 

Senior Management 1 0 0 1 

Professional qualified 7 0 0 7 

Skilled 10 0 1 10 

Semi-skilled 6 0 0 6 

Unskilled 9 0 2 10 

TOTAL 34 0 4 30 



Reasons for staff leaving 

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving 

Death 1 

Resignation 1 

Dismissal 0 

Retirement 2 

Ill health 0 

Expiry of contract 0 

Other 

TOTAL 4 

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action 

Nature of disciplinary action Number 

Verbal Warning 0 

Written Warning 0 

Final Warning 0 

Dismissal 0 

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 

Levels MALE 

African Coloured Indian White 

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target 

Top 
Management 

Senior 
1 

Management 

Professional 
1 2 

Qualified 

Skilled 1 3 1 

Semi-skilled 2 1 

Unskilled 0 3 

TOTAL 4 7 4 



Levels FEMALE 

African Coloured Indian White 

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target 

Top 

Management 

Senior 

Management 

Professional 
4 

Qualified 

Skilled 2 2 2 

Semi-skilled 1 

Unskilled 4 

TOTAL 6 2 7 

Levels DISABLED STAFF 

African Coloured Indian White 

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target 

Top 
Management 

Senior 
Management 

Professional 
Qualified 

Skilled 

Semi-skilled 

Unskilled 

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 
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1.1 General Information 

Country of incorporation and domicile 

Nature of business and principal activities 
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Registered office 

Business address 

Executive authority 

Bankers 

External auditors 

Chief Executive Officer 

Chief Financial Officer 

Reporting Framework 

South Africa 

Listed public entity in terms of sections 47 and 48 of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 

(Act No. 1 of 1999) and Schedule 3 Part C, effective from 1 April 2014. 

The entity is a non-profit province-aided museum established in terms of the Cape Museums 

Ordinance No. 8 of 1975.and is focused on service delivery within the Northern Cape. 

- appointed from 15 October 2011 

Mr K Mathews ( Chairperson) 

MrTThobeli 

Ms J Ntwane 

Mr MM Setlogelo 

Mr D Allen 

Mr R Bruce {deceased December 2014) 

- appointed from 1 February 2012 

Ms MM Moloi 

Mr BM Maribe 

2 Egerton Road 

Belgravia 
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8301 

2 Egerton Road 

Belgravia 

Kimberley 

8301 

Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

(MEC: Mr L Motlhaping) 

Standard Bank 

Auditor General of South Africa 

CF Fortune (until 30 September 2014) S Swanepoel (interim from 1 October 2014) 

Z Cader 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1 of 1996 

Cape Museums Ordinance No. 8 of 1975 

Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 

Public Service Act No. 103 of 1994 

Labour Relations Act No. 66 of 1995 

Basic Conditions of Employment Act No. 75 of 1997 

Employment Equity Act No. 9 of 1999 

Unemployment Insurance Act No. 30 of 1966 

Workmen's Compensation Act No. 30 of 1941 

Occupational Health and Safety Act No. 85 of 1993 

National Heritage Resources Act No. 25 of 1999 

National Archives Act No. 43 of 1996 

National Environment Act No. 107 of 1998 

National Environmental Biodiversity Act No. 10 of 2004 

Promotion of Access to Information Act no 2 of 2000 

Copyright Act no. 78 of 1978 

Firearms Control Amendment Act No. 43 of 2003 



Report of the auditor-general to the Northern Cape 

Provincial Legislature on McGregor Museum 

Report on the financial statements 

Introduction 

1. I have audited the financial statements of the McGregor Museum set out on pages 28 to
60, 'Nhich comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, the
statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow
statement for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Accounting authority's responsibility for the financial statements 

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance \/Vith South African Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the
Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and for
such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general's responsibility 

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my
audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my qualified audit opinion.

Basis for qualified opinion 

Heritage Assets 

6. The public entity did not recognise all items of heritage assets in accordance \/Vith GRAP
103 Heritage Assets. As the museum did not maintain adequate records of the heritage
assets fair values at date of acquisition, I \IV'aS not able to determine the full extent of the
understatement of heritage assets as it was impracticable to do so.

Qualified opinion 



opinion paragraph, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the McGregor Museum as at 31 March 2015 and its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the SA 
Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA. 

Emphasis of matter 

8. I draw attention to these matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these
matters.

Going concern 

9. The accounting authority's report on page 7 to the financial statements indicates that the
McGregor Museum incurred a net loss of R369 765 during the year ended

31 March 2015. This condition, along with other matters as set forth in the accounting
authority's report; indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the entity's ability to operate as a going concern.

Irregular Expenditure 

10. The full extent of irregular expenditure of R457 032, as disclosed in note 35 to the
financial statements is still in the process of being investigated.

Additional matters 

11. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Unaudited supplementary schedules 

12. The supplementary information set out on pages 61 to 82 does not form part of the
financial statements and is presented as additional information. I have not audited these
schedules and, accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004)
(PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report
findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for
selected objectives presented in the annual performance report, non-compliance with
legislation and internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable
findings as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express
assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on
these matters.

Predetermined obiectives 

14. I am unable to report on the usefulness and reliability of the performance information, as
the annual performance report of the public entity was not prepared as required by
section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA .

Compliance with legislation 

15. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with
applicable legislation regarding financial matters, financial management and other
related matters. My findings on material non-compliance with specific matters in key
legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA, are as follows:

Strategic planning and performance management 

16. Effective, efficient and transparent systems of risk management and internal control with



by section 38(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA. 

17. The proposed strategic plan for was not submitted to the executive authority for approval
as required by Treasury Regulation 30.1.1.

Financial statements, performance and annual reports 

18. The accounting authority did not submit the financial statements for auditing within two
months after the end of financial year, as required by section 55(1)(c)(i) of the PFMA.

19. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with
the prescribed financial reporting framework as required by section 55(1)(a) and (b) of
the PFMA. Material misstatements identified by the auditors in the submitted financial
statements vvere not adequately corrected and the supporting records could not be
provided subsequently, which resulted in the financial statements receiving a qualified
audit opinion.

Audit committees 

20. An audit committee was not in place as required by section 51 (1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA.

Internal audit 

21. The accounting authority did not ensure that the internal audit function was established,
as required by section 51 (1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations (TR) 27.2.2
and 27.2.3.

Procurement and contract management 

22. Goods and services with a transaction value below R500 OOO were procured without
obtaining the required price quotations, as required by TR 16A6.1.

23. Quotations vvere awarded to suppliers whose tax matters had not been declared by the
South African Revenue Services to be in order as required by TR 16A9.1 (d) and the
Preferential Procurement Regulations.

24. The preference point system was not applied in all procurement of goods and services
above R30 OOO as required by section 2(a) of the Preferential Procurement Policy
Framework Act and TR.

25. Quotations vvere awarded to bidders who did not submit a declaration on whether they
are employed by the state or connected to any person employed by the state, which is
prescribed in order to comply with TR 16A8.3.

Expenditure management 

26. The accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure, as
required by section 51 (1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA.

Asset and liability management 

27. Proper control systems to safeguard and maintain assets were not implemented, as
required by sections 50(1)(a) and 51 (1)(c) of the PFMA.

Consequence management 

28. Effective and appropriate disciplinary steps were not taken against officials who incurred
and/or permitted irregular expenditure, as required by section 51 (1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA.

Internal control 

29. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual -



limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the basis for 
qualified opinion, the findings on the annual performance report and the findings on non
compliance with legislation included in this report. 

Leadership 

30. The museum did not have sufficient monitoring controls to ensure adherence to the
internal policies and procedures and for purposes of taking corrective action. This is
evident by material misstatement identified on financial statements, findings on
performance information and non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
were identified during the audit process.

31. Action plans to address prior year audit findings were not monitored by the leadership of
the museum resulting in the reoccurrence of material misstatements in the annual
financial statements.

32. The leadership has not been effective due to material misstatement in the financial
statements, non-compliance with laws and regulations and findings on predetermined
objectives

33. Management oversight has not been effective, as material misstatements were identified
on the financial statements. In addition, there were significant findings on the
predetermined objectives and material non-compliance with laws and regulations was
found.

34. The policies and procedures of the museum have not been effective and did not
adequately address the overall process of planning, implementation and reporting. This is
evident from the material misstatement on the financial statements and non-compliance
with laws and regulations and performance information.

35. The museum has developed a plan to address external audit findings, but adherence to
the plan is not monitored on a timely basis by the appropriate level of management.

36. Information technology (IT) is not regarded as of strategic importance, resulting in the
lack of IT Governance controls.

Financial and performance management 

37. Management failed to monitor and review the financial statements and performance
information to ensure the achievement of the fair presentation and this resulted to
material misstatement to the annual financial statements.

38. Management failed to monitor the compliance with laws and regulations and as a result,
there were significant findings on the financial statements, performance information and
material non-compliance with laws and regulations.

39. Management did not document and approve internal policies and procedures to address
the process of collection, recording, processing, monitoring and reporting on
performance information. Consequently, performance systems, processes and
procedures had not been designed and implemented.

40. IT is not regarded as of strategic importance as result the security management, user
access management, IT service continuity and programme change management
controls were not formally designed.

Governance 

41. The museum did not prioritise the establishment of a fully functioning performance audit
committee and audit committee and therefore the functions were not established and
functional during the financial year. This also resulted in the committees not being able to
fulfil ;,ill thP.ir rA!';nOn!';ihilitiP.5';



Auditor-Gen era I 

Kimberley 

31 July 2015 

L ' '"- , •• [ 

AUDITG• -•• N••AL 

•OUIH AFalCA 



McGregor Museum 

Financial Statements for the year ended 

31 March 2015 

1.3 Members' Responsibilities and Approval 

The members of the Board of Trustees of the entity are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this 
report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end 
of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the financial statements and were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including 

any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgements and estimates. 

The members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 

entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members to meet these 
responsibilities, the accounting authority sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost 

effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity's business 

is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or deficit. 

The members have reviewed the entity's cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2015 and, in the light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the entity has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

The entity is mainly dependent on the Northern Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture for continued funding or operations. 
The financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the Northern Cape Department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the entity. 

Although the accounting authority is primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, it is supported by the entity's 
external auditors. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity's financial statements. The 
financial statements have been examined by the entity's external auditors and their report is presented on page 4. 

The financial statements set out on pages 32 to 60, have been prepared on the going concern basis, and are signed on 
behalf of the accounting authority by: 

Sunet Swanepoel 

Interim CEO 
McGregor Museum 

K Mathews 

Chairman of Board of Trustees 
McGregor Museum 
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Financial Statements for the year ended 

31 March 2015 

1.4 Accounting Authority's Report 

The Accounting Authority submits its report for the 12 months ended 31 March 2015. 

1 Incorporation 

The entity was founded in 1907, and legally constituted as a province-aided museum in terms of the Cape Museums Ordinance No 8 of 1975. 

In terms Sections 47 and 48 of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), it was listed as a Schedule 3 Part C provincial public 

entity, effective from 1 April 2014. 

2 Review of activities 

2.1 Operating results 
The total deficit of the entity for the year was R369 765 (2014: deficit R196 222), after adjustments for asset capitalisation, depreciation, 

impairments and contributions to revenue from conditional grants. 

2.2 Review of operations 
The entity continued to assume the full responsibility of administering the finances and rendering services and grants of the Provincial 

Museums Unit (PMU) of the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. The PMU is responsible for the four other province-aided museums in the 

Northern Cape, plus assisting municipal and community museums. The finances of this unit are integrated into the mainstream of the 

Museum's financial reporting system. 

In the current year, total revenue for the year increased over the previous year by 1% to R4 432 701 (2014: R4 391 586) . 

The annual transfer payment received from the Province amounted to R2 953 OOO (2014: R2 913 260), an increase of 1%, which 

included funding for the Provincial Museums Unit running expenses. 

Revenues from sale of goods and rendering of services, rentals received and donations and bequests decreased 

by 8% to R764 360 (2014: R827 140). 

Earned interest income fell to R83 465 (2014: R 92 226), a decrease of 9.5% . 

Unconditional public donations received for collaborative research projects amounted to R218 276 (2014: R147 713) for the ongoing blackfooted cat 

research project. Sponsorships received for specific projects and activities amounted to R61 675. 

The total contributions to revenue resulting from spending of conditional grants during the year amounted to R351 925 (2014: R411 24 7). These 

grants are in respect of the Liberation Struggle project (completed during the year), and a collaborative Indigenous Knowledge Systems project 

funded by the National Research Foundation. 

In the current year, total expenses for the year before depreciation increased over the previous year by 5.5% to R4 350 130 (2014: R4 124 032) . 

The entity continued to bear the burden of employing contract and casual labour due to the ongoing failure of the entity's parent department 

to fill or fund vacant provincial posts. 

After recognising a surplus arising from the disposal of assets (due to theft in the field and electrical storm damage ) of R7 076, and proceeds 

of insurance claims of R30 685, and raising non-cash adjustments for depreciation and amortisation of R482 650 and other impairments of R7 447, 

the overall deficit for the year amounted to R369 765 (2014: R196 222). 
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31 March 2015 

1.4 Accounting Authority's Report 

2.3 Review of financial position 

Accumulated Surplus 

continued 

After deducting the current year deficit of of R365 765, the Accumulated Surplus of the entity at year end amounts to R4 964 260. 

It must be noted that due to changes in accounting policy corrected in previous financial years, whereby the practice of ring-fencing of non-conditional 

museum departmental income and expenses as Special Funds was discontinued, and the unspent balances transferred to equity, the spending of 

these reserves during the current and future years has and will give rise to deficits in the years when spent (due to spending from accumulated reserves). 

Non-current assets (Property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets and non-current receivables) 

The carrying value of non-current assets fell from R3 246 698 to R2 783 694, as a result of disposals, depreciation and amortisation charges raised 

during the current year, and a relatively low amount spent on acquisition of new assets. 

Long-term liabilities (Finance lease) 

Long-term liabilities decreased from R 128 581 to R92 716, as a result of repayments made during the year for the photocopier machine, which is the 

subject of a five year finance lease which was amortised at cost. 

Net current liabilities (Payables, unspent conditional grants and provisions, less receivables) 

Net current liabilities decreased from R170 617 to R161 932. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

At the end of the current financial year cash and cash equivalents amounted to R2 435 215 (2014: R2 386 525). 

2.4 Financial outlook 

As the Provincial transfer payment for the 2016 financial year will not increase, the entity will again be forced to put on hold its planned 

extension of museum services more widely throughout the province. There will be continued pressure on reducing operating costs, especially as 

further above inflation increases in electricity charges and fuel costs are imminent in 2015/2016. Considerable savings could be achieved in 

respect of employee related costs, were the parent department to fill the numerous vacant posts that exist on the staff establishment. However, the 

department has de-funded the majority of the previously funded vacancies, and the Board should continue to engage in negotiations to reverse this situation. 

As a newly listed public entity, the parent department has undertaken to operationalise the entity fully in 2015/2016. There will be increased costs 

of compliance in terms of governance and administration, so increased funding from the parent department has to be secured in the years ahead. 

If this does not happen, there will be a continued curtailment of delivery of museum services in the province. 
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1.4 Accounting Authority's Report 

3 Services rendered by the McGregor Museum 

3.1 List of services rendered 

continued 

The McGregor Museum's core function is to manage and promote the Northern Cape's unique heritage collections, sites and services for the benefit 

of present and future generations. The services rendered include the development of exhibitions, educational programmes, research into the natural 

and cultural history of the province, collections management, and the production of books and publications on previously neglected aspects of history 

in the Northern Cape. It also plays an important role in complementing the promotion of tourism in the province. 

3.2 Tariff policy 

Tariffs are negotiated and charged for entrance fees, the rental of facilities, venues, photographic services, printing services and professional services. 

Tariffs are reviewed annually. 

4 Capacity constraints 
A major constraint has been the lack of staff as outlined in note 2.4 above. 

This situation severely impacts on the ability of the entity to deliver on its services and core functions. The vacancies affect all levels of the entity both in 

Kimberley and the regions of the Province: senior management, finance and administration, professional services, research, collection management, 

public outreach and educational services, front desk caretakers and guides, workshop, cleaners and grounds maintenance. 

5 Public entity 
The McGregor Museum is listed as a public entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as 

amended by Act No. 29 of 1999 ) and is governed by the Museums Ordinance No. 8 of 1975. Its parent department is the Northern Cape 

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

6 Jurisdiction 
The McGregor Museum resides and is managed in the Northern Cape Province, South Africa. Its parent department is the Northern 

Cape Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

7 New/proposed activities 
Due to budgetary constraints and the defunding of vacant posts, the planned display on African material culture has been shelved indefinitely. 

The conservation of all of the entity's cultural material remains a major project. The backlog in the digital databasing of all collections is to continue. 

The museum's information brochure needs to be redesigned and reprinted, since the current brochure is now eight years old and outdated. 

With the commencement of a one year certificate course in Heritage Studies, the entity will become more involved with part-time lecturing for the 

Sol Plaatje University. Lack of professional staff will however hamper the contribution that the museum could make. 

8 External Auditors 
The Auditor General of South Africa will continue in office for the next financial year. 
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1.5 Statement of Financial Position 

I Figures in Rand Notes 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 2 783 693.55 3 246 697.94 
Property, plant and equipment 2 2 771 230.57 3 167 553.46 
Intangible assets 3 5 871.56 19 946.58 
Heritage assets 4 1.00 1.00 
Other non-current assets 5 6 590.42 59 196.90 

Current assets 2 694 876.14 2 706 921.94 
Trade and other receivables 6 259 661.32 320 396.48 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2 435 214.82 2 386 525.46 

TOT AL ASSETS 5 478 569.69 5 953 619.88 

LIABILITIES 

Long-term liabilities 92 715.90 128 580.73 
Finance lease liability 8 92 715.90 128 580.73 

Current liabilities 421 593.56 491 014.13 
Current portion of finance lease liability 8 35 864.83 32 952.16 
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 9 257 345.92 381 060.30 
Conditional grants liability 10 128 382.81 77 001.67 
Provisions 11 0.00 0.00 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 514 309.46 619 594.86 

NET ASSETS 
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
Accumulated surplus 4 964 260.23 5 334 025.02 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 4 964 260.23 5 334 025.02 

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 5 478 569.69 5 953 619.88 
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1.6 Statement of Financial Performance 

I Figures in Rand Notes I 

Revenue 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

Public contributions and donations 11 

Transfers and sponsorships 12 

Revenue from exchange transactions 

Sales of goods and redering of services 13 

Rental of facilities and equipment 14 

Interest earned - external investments 15 

Interest earned - outstanding receivables 16 

Total revenue 

Expenses 

Employee related costs 17 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 18 

Repairs and maintenance 19 

Contracted services 20 

Grants and subsidies paid 21 

General expenses 22 

Finance costs 23 

Total expenses 

Other Gains I losses 

Loss (-gain) on disposal of assets 24 

Impairment losses 25 

Proceeds of insurance claims 

Surplus (-deficit) for period 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

3 593 359.05 3 482 459.40 

578 684.05 569 199.40 

3 014 675.00 2 913 260.00 

839 342.14 909 126.83 

563 196.84 652 889.88 

192 680.00 164 010.70 

81 363.96 86 898.45 

2 101.34 5 327.80 

4 432 701.19 4 391 586.23 

1 177 787.30 1 049 271.87 

482 650.18 448 844.41 

328 021.13 357 559.82 

0.00 101 806.65 

87 000.00 79 000.00 

2 743 206.34 2 524 234.86 

14 114.88 12 158.84 

4 832 779.83 4 572 876.45 

-7 076.26 2 742.28 

7 447.41 12 190.24 

-30 685.00 0.00 

-369 764.79 -196 222.74
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1.7 Statement of Changes in Equity 

Figures in Rand 

31.03.12 Balance at 1 April 2013 

- correction of prior period errors

- change in accounting policy

As restated 

Surplus (deficit) for the year 

31.03.13 Balance at 1 April 2014 

- correction of prior period errors

- change in accounting policy

As restated 

Surplus (deficit) for the year 

31.03.14 Balance at 1 April 2015 

- correction of prior period errors

- change in accounting policy

As restated

Accumulated 

Surplus 

5 530 712.31 

-464.55
-

5 530 247.76 

-196 222.74

5 334 025.02 

-

-

5 334 025.02 

-369 764.79

4 964 260.23 

-

-

4 964 260.23 

Total Equity 

5 530 712.31 

-464.55

-

5 530 247.76 

-196 222.74

5 334 025.02 

0.00 

-

5 334 025.02 

-369 764.79

4 964 260.23 

-

-

4 964 260.23 
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1.8 Statement of Cash Flows 

J Figures in Rand Notes 31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Receipts 4 569 318.57 3 853 032.90 

Transfers, subsidies and other 3 675 425.19 3 071 212.83 
Sale of goods and rendering of services 617 748.08 525 583.12 
Rental of facilities and equipment 192 680.00 164 010.70 
Interest 83 465.30 92 226.25 

Payments 4 473 844.03 4 045 194.96 
Compensation of employees 1 177 787.30 1 048 875.62 
Rental of land and buildings 7 410.00 6 270.00 
Other payments 3 288 646.73 2 990 049.34 

Net cash (utilised in) I generated by operating activities 26 95 474.54 -192 162.06

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from the sale of assets 61 100.00 0.00 
Purchase of moveable assets 2 -125 037.97 -450 882.14
Purchase of intangible assets 3 -1 238.04 -7 619.70
(lncrease)/Decrease in non-current receivables 5 52 637.44 52 978.56

Net cash utilised from investing activities -12 538.57 -405 523.28

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Finance lease repaid 8 -32 952.16 149 340.87 
(Decrease)/increase in short term deposits 25 -1 294.45 0.00 

Net cash utilised in financing activities -34 246.61 149 340.87 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 48 689.36 -448 344.47
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the beginning of the year 2 386 525.46 2 834 869.93
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the end of the year 7 2 435 214.82 2 386 525.46 
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1.9 Accounting Policies 

1.1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost 

convention unless specified otherwise. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practices (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. 

The following GRAP Standards have been issued and are effective: 

GRAP 1 Presentation of financial statements 

GRAP 2 Cash flow statements 

GRAP 3 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors 

GRAP 4 The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 

GRAP 5 Borrowing cost 

GRAP 6 Consolidated and separate financial statements 

GRAP 7 Investments in associates 

GRAP 8 Interest in joint ventures 

GRAP 9 Revenue from exchange transactions 

GRAP 1 O Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 

GRAP 11 Construction contracts 

GRAP 12 Inventories 

GRAP 13 Leases 

GRAP 14 Events after reporting date 

GRAP 16 Investment property 

GRAP 17 Property, plant and equipment 

GRAP 19 Provisions, contingent liabilities and assets 

GRAP 21 Impairment of non-cash generating assets 

GRAP 23 Revenue from non-exchange transactions (taxes and transfers) 

GRAP 24 Presentation of budget information in financial statements 

GRAP 25 Employee benefits 

GRAP 26 Impairment of non-cash generating assets 

GRAP 31 Intangible assets 

GRAP 100 Non - current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

GRAP 102 Intangible assets 

GRAP 103 Heritage assets 

GRAP 104 Financial instruments 

IPSAS 20 Related parties 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below.These accounting 

policies are consistent with the previous period. 

1.1.1 Crtitical judgements, estimations and assumptions 

In the application of the entity's accounting policies, which are described below, the management are required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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1.9 Accounting Policies 

1.1.2 Revenue recognition 

continued 

Accounting Policy 1.14.1 on Revenue from Exchange Transactions and Accounting Policy 1.14.2 on Revenue from Non-exchange 

Transactions describes the conditions under which revenue will be recorded by the management of the entity. 

In making their judgement, the management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue as set out in GRAP 9: 

Revenue from Exchange Transactions; Revenue, as far as Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions is concerned management 

considered the detail criteria of GRAP 23 for the recognition of revenue. In particular, whether the entity, when goods are sold, 

had transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and when services are rendered, whether 

the service has been rendered. Also of importance is the estimation process involved in initially measuring revenue at the 

fair value thereof. The management of the entity is satisfied that recognition of the revenue in the current year is appropriate. 

1.1.3 Useful lives of Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets 

As described in Accounting Policies 1.2.3 and 1.3.2 the entity depreciates I amortises its property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets over the estimated useful lives of the assets, taking into account the residual values of the assets at the end of their useful lives, 

which is determined when the assets are available for use. The useful lives and residual values of the assets are based on industry 

knowledge. 

1.1.4 Impairment of Property, plant and equipment; Intangible assets and Inventories 

Accounting Policy 1.2.3 on PPE - Impairment of assets and Accounting Policy 1.3.2 on Intangible assets - Subsequent Measurement, 

Amortisation and Impairment and Accounting Policy 1.6 on Inventory - Subsequent measurement describes the conditions under 

which non-financial assets are tested for potential impairment losses by the management of the entity. Significant estimates and 

judgements are made relating to PPE impairment testing, Intangible assets impairment testing and write down of Inventories to the 

lowest of Cost and Net Realisable Values (NRV). 

1.1.5 Presentation currency 

The Annual Financial Statements are presented in South African Rand, rounded off to the nearest Rand, which is the entity's 

functional currency. 

1.1.6 Going concern assumption 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

1.1. 7 Offsetting 

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have not been offset except when offsetting is required or permitted by a Standard of GRAP. 

1.1.8 Standards, Amendments to Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The following GRAP standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted 

by the entity: 

GRAP 20 Related Party Disclosure - issued June 2011; 

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting - issued February 2011; 

GRAP 105 Transfer of Functions between Entities under Common Control - issued November 201 O; 

GRAP 106 Transfer of Functions between Entities not under Common Control - issued November 201 O and 

GRAP 107 Mergers - issued November 2010. 
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1.9 Accounting Policies 

Impact on the entity's f inancial statements once implemented: 

continued 

GRAP 18, Segmented reporting; GRAP 105, Transfer of functions between entities under common control; GRAP 106, Transfer of functions 

between entities not under common control; GRAP 107, Mergers. The effectiveness of these Standards will not have an impact on the financial 

statements of the entity, as the entity does not have any related transactions or activities that falls within the scope of these Standards. 

There will be no material impact on the recognition, measurement and disclosure in the financial statements with the adoption of 

IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosure, GRAP 25, Employee Benefits and GRAP 104 Financial Instruments. The adoption will however result 

in a change in accounting policy and the relevant disclosure will be made in terms of GRAP 3, Accounting Policy, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors. The implementation of GRAP103, Heritage Assets, will have a material impact on the financial statements, as 

heritage assets need to recognised and measured in terms of this standard. The adoption will result in a change in accounting policy 

and the relevant disclosures will be made in terms of GRAP3, Accounting Policy, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

1.1.9 Comparative information 

Budget information in accordance with GRAP 1 and 24, has been provided in Note 28 to these financial statements. 

When the presentation or classification of items in the annual financial statements is amended, prior period comparative amounts 

are restated. The nature and reason for the reclassification is disclosed. Where accounting errors have been identified in the current 

year, the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly. Where 

there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year, the adjustment is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and 

the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly. 

1.2 Property, plant and equipment 

1.2.1 Initial recognition 

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 

rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one year. Items of property, plant and 

equipment are initially recognised as assets on acquisition date and are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by the entity. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. The cost 

also includes the necessary costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located. 

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Where an asset is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost is deemed to be 

equal to the fair value of that asset on the date acquired. 

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 

combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired 

item's fair value was not determinable, it's deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up. 

Major spare parts and servicing equipment qualify as property, plant and equipment when the entity expects to use them during more 

than one period. Similarly, if the major spare parts and servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of property, 

plant and equipment, they are accounted for as property, plant and equipment. 

1.2.2 Subsequent measurement - Cost model 

Subsequent to initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. 

Where the entity replaces parts of an asset, it derecognises the part of the asset being replaced and capitalises the new component. 

Subsequent expenditure incurred on an asset is capitalised when it increases the capacity or future economic benefits associated 
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Accounting Policies continued 

1.2.3 Depreciation and impairment 

Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount, using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

Components of assets that are significant in relation to the whole asset and that have different useful lives are depreciated separately. 

The annual depreciation rates are based on the following estimated average asset lives: 

Item 

Leased computer equipment 

Audiovisual equipment 

Computer hardware 

Furniture 

Garden equipment 

Sundry equipment 

Vehicles 

Workshop equipment 

Useful life 

5 years 

4 to 10 years 

3 to 10 years 

10 to 20 years 

7 to 12 years 

7 to 13 years 

6 to 13 years 

8 to 14 years 

Depreciation only commences when the asset is available for use, unless stated otherwise. 

The residual value, the useful life of an asset and the depreciation method is reviewed annually and any changes are recognised 

as a change in accounting estimate in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

The entity tests for impairment where there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. An assessment of whether there is an 

indication of possible impairment is done at each reporting date. Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount}, it is written down immediately to 

its recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) and an impairment loss is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.2.4 Derecognition 

Items of Property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 

benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item 

of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.3 Heritage assets 

If the initial accounting for heritage assets is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the Standard becomes effective or the transfer 

occurs, whichever is later, the entity shall report in its financial statements provisional amounts for those heritage assets for which the accounting is 

incomplete. 

Heritage assets comprise:-

1.3.1 Land and buildings 

Various land and buildings, situated in Kimberley and surrounds, owned by the Board of Trustees of the Museum, plus 

a section of land near Kuruman over which the Board holds a servitude 

Various other land and buildings, situated in Kimberley and surrounds, made available to the Museum as the custodian 

on a permanent basis. 

These properties are unencumbered and fully described in note 4. 

The properties are all declared Provincial or National Heritage Sites, thus being defined as heritage assets. 

1.3.2 Displays and collections 

Displays, by virtue of being permanent features inseparable from the museum buildings in which they are housed, are defined as 

heritage assets. Expenses incurred in building of new displays are written off in the period in which incurred. 

Museum collections are defined as heritage assets. Acquisitions, including library materials, are recognised as an expense in the 

period in which incurred. 

1.4 Intangible assets 

1.4.1 Initial recognition 

Identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance are classified and recognised as intangible assets. The entity recognises 

an intangible asset in its Statement of Financial Position only when it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or 

service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Internally generated intangible assets are subject to strict recognition criteria before they are capitalised. Research expenditure is 

recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved 

products) are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are fulfilled: 

- it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use; 

- management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

- there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
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Accounting Policies continued 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 

recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs are recorded as 

intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not exceeding 

five years. Development assets are tested for impairment annually, in accordance with IPSAS 21/ IAS 36. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an intangible asset is the purchase price and other costs attributable to 

bring the intangible asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the entity, 

or where an intangible asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, the cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition 

Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. Intangible assets acquired separately or internally generated are 

reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Where an intangible asset is acquired in 

in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired 

is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item's fair value was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount 

of the assets given up. 

1.4.2 Subsequent measurement, amortisation and impairment 

After initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. 

In terms of GRAP 102, intangible assets are distinguished between internally generated intangible assets and other intangible assets. 

It is further distinguished between indefinite or finite useful lives. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the intangible 

assets' useful lives, which are estimated to be between 3 to 5 years, the residual value of assets with finite useful lives is zero, 

unless an active market exists. 

Intangible assets are annually tested for impairment, including intangible assets not yet available for use. Where items of intangible 

assets have been impaired, the carrying value is adjusted by the impairment loss, which is recognised as an expense in the period 

that the impairment is identified except where the impairment reverses a previous revaluation. The impairment loss is the difference 

between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount. 

The estimated useful life, residual values and amortisation method are reviewed annually at the end of the financial year. Any 

adjustments arising from the annual review are applied prospectively as a change in accounting estimate in the Statement of 

Financial Performance. 

The annual amortisation rates are based on the following estimated average asset lives: 

Item 

Computer software 

1.4.3 Derecognition of intangible assets 

Useful l ife 

36 months 

Intangible assets are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential 

expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an intangible asset is determined as the 

difference between the net disposals proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.5 Financial instruments 

The entity has various types of financial instruments and these can be broadly categorised as either financial assets, financial liabilities 

or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. The entity only recognises a financial asset or a 

financial liabiltiy in its statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 

the instrument. The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting. 

The entity classifies the instrument, or its component parts, on initial recognition as a financial liability, a financial asset or residual interest in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability, a financial asset and a residual interest. 

1.5.1 Initial recognition and measurement 

When a financial instrument is recognised, the entity measures it initially at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial 

liability not subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or 

financial liability. 

The Entity does not offset a financial asset and a financial liability unless a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
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1.5.2 Subsequent Measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value, amortised cost or cost. 

All financial assets and liabilities are measured after initial recognition using following categories: 

a) Financial instruments at fair value

- Derivatives 

- Compound instruments that are designated at fair value i.e. an instrument that includes a derivative and a non-derivative host contract. 

- Instrument held for trading. 

- Non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value at initial recognition. 

- An investment in a residual interest for which fair value can be measured reliably. 

b) Financial instruments at amortised cost 

Non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that 

the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition or are held for trading. 

c) Financial instruments at cost 

Investments in residual interests, which do not have quoted market prices and for which fair value cannot be determined reliably. 

Derecoginition 

A financial asset is derecognised at trade date, when: 

a) The cash flows from the asset expire, are settled or waived; 

b) Significant risks and rewards are transferred to another party; or 

c) Despite having retained significant risks and rewards, the entity has transferred control of the asset to another entity. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation is extinguished. Exchanges or debt instruments between borrower and a lender are treated 

as the extinguishment of an existing liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Where the terms of an existing financial liability 

are modified, it is also treated as the extinguishment of an existing liability and the recognition of a new liability. 

Gains and losses 

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or the financial liability measured at fair value is recognised in 

surplus of deficit. 

For financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when the financial asset 

or financial liability is de recognised or impaired or through the amortisation process. 

Offsetting 

The entity does not offset financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position unless a legal right of the set-off exists and the 

parties intend to settle on a net basis. 
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1.5.3 Impairment 

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are subject to an impairment review. The entity assesses at the end of each reporting 

period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

For financial assets held at amortised cost: 

The entity first assesses whether the objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant and 

individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the entity determines that no objective evidence of impairment 

exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 

risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment, Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 

impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in the collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred , the amount of the loss 

is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future 

credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed 

at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in 

surplus of deficit. 

For financial assets held at cost: 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not measured at fair value 

because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 

of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

Such impairment losses are not reversed. 

Investments at amortised cost 

Investments are categorised as financial instruments at amortised cost and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

When investments have been impaired, the carrying value is adjusted by the impairment loss, which is recognised as an expense in the period 

that the impairment is identified. 

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to the statement 

of financial performance. 

1.6 Risk Management of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

It is the policy of the entity to disclose information that enables the user of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent 

of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed on the reporting date. 

The entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

- market risk; 

- credit risk; 

- liquidity risk. 

Risks and exposure are disclosed as follows: 

Market Risk 

- Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 

the entity's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 

and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

- The maximum exposure to cash flow and fair value risk, price risk and foreign currency risk. 

- Sensitivity analysis for each of the market risks. 

Credit Risk 

- Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and investment securities. 

- Each class of financial instrument is disclosed separately. 

- Maximum exposure to credit risk not covered by collateral is specified. 
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Liquidity Risk 

continued 

- Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 

that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The entity's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 

that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the entity's reputation. 

- A maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities that shows the remaining contractual maturities. 

- Liquidity risk is managed by ensuring that all assets are reinvested at maturity at competitive interest rates in relation to cash flow

requirements. Liabilities are managed by ensuring that all contractual payments are met on a timeous basis and, if required, additional 

new arrangements are established at competitive rates to ensure that cash flow requirements are met. 

1.7 Employee benefits 

Short - term Employee Benefits 

Remuneration to employees is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance as the services are rendered, except for 

for non-accumulating benefits, which are only recognised when the specific event occurs. 

The costs of all short-term employee benefits such as leave pay and thirteen cheques, are recognised during the period in which 

the employee renders the related service. The liability for leave pay and thirteen cheques is based on the total accrued leave days 

and total accrued days of service delivery at year end and is shown as a creditor in the Statement of Financial Position. The entity 

recognises the expected cost of performance bonuses only when the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation to make 

such payment and a reliable estimate can be made. 

1.8 Leases 

Finance leases 

At inception of an arrangement, the entity determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. A specific asset is the 

subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of that specified asset. An arrangement conveys the 

right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the entity the right to control the use of the underlying asset. At inception 

or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the entity separates payments and other considerations required by such an 

arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the entity 

concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised 

at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and 

an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the entity's incremental borrowing rate. 

Where the entity enters into a finance lease, Property, plant and equipment or Intangible Assets subject to finance lease 

agreements are capitalised at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. Corresponding liabilities are included in the 

Statement of Financial Position as Finance Lease Liabilities. The corresponding liabilities are initially recognised at the 

inception of the lease and are measured as the sum of the minimum lease payments due in terms of the lease agreement, 

discounted for the effect of interest. In discounting the lease payments, the entity uses the interest rate that exactly 

discounts the lease payments and unguaranteed residual value to the fair value of the asset plus any direct costs incurred. 

Lease payments are allocated between the lease finance cost and the capital repayment using the effective interest rate 

method. Lease finance costs are expensed when incurred. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the leased assets are accounted for in accordance with the stated accounting policies applicable 

to property, plant, equipment or intangibles. The lease liability is reduced by the lease payments, which are allocated between 

the lease finance cost and the capital repayment using the effective interest rate method. Lease finance costs are expensed 

when incurred. The accounting policies relating to derecognition of financial instruments are applied to lease payables. The 

lease asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life or the lease term. 

Operating leases 

The entity recognises operating lease rentals as an expense in the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the relevant lease. The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments 

are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability. 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
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1.9 Commitments 

Commitments are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of financial 

performance but are included in the disclosure notes. 

Commitments are disclosed for: 

- Approved and contracted commitments, where the expenditure has been Approved and the contract has been awarded at the 

reporting date. 

- Approved but not yet contracted commitments, where the expenditure has been Approved and the contract has yet to be awarded 

or is awaiting finalisation at the reporting date. 

- Items are classified as commitments where the entity commits itself to future transactions that will normally result in the 

outflow of resources. 

- Other commitments for contracts are be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost contracts should relate to 

something other than the business of the entity. 

1.1 O Comparative Information 

Current year comparatives 

Budgeted amounts have, in accordance with GRAP 1, been included in the financial statements and forms part of the audited 

Annual Financial Statements. 

Prior year comparatives 

When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative 

amounts are reclassified. The nature and reasons for the reclassification are disclosed. 

1.11 Events after Reporting date 

Events after the reporting date that are classified as adjusting events have been accounted for in the Annual Financial Statements. 

The events after the reporting date that are classified as non-adjusting events after the reporting date have been disclosed in the 

notes to the Annual Financial Statements. 

1.12 Revenue Recognition 

1.12.1 

Revenue, excluding value-added taxation where applicable, is derived from a variety of sources which include, grants from 

other tiers of government and revenue from trading activities, interest and other services provided. Revenue is recognised 

when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and these benefits can be measured 

reliably, except when specifically stated otherwise. 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary 

course of the entity's activities. Revenue is shown net of returns, rebates and discounts. 

The entity recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 

will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the entities activities as described below. The amount 

of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The entity 

bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of 

each arrangement. 

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that accrued to the entity directly in return for services rendered I goods sold, 

the value of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions refers to transactions where the entity received revenue from another entity without 

directly giving approximately equal value in exchange. Revenue from non-exchange transactions is generally recognised to the 

extent that the related receipt or receivable qualifies for recognition as an asset and there is no liability to repay the amount. 

Revenue from Exchange Transactions 

Finance Income 

Interest earned on investments is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance on the time proportionate basis that takes into 

account the effective yield on the investment. 

Interest earned on the following investments is not recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance: 

- Interest earned on trust funds is allocated directly to the fund. 

- Interest earned on unutilised conditional grants is allocated directly to the creditor: unutilised conditional grants, if the grant 
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Sale of goods 

continued 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been met: 

- The entity has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 

- The entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 

control over the goods sold. 

- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

- It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. 

- The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

Services Rendered 

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance sheet date. Stage of 

completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed. 

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the 

transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a 

transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

- it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

- the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and 

- the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a 

straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the 

stage of completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed 

until the significant act is executed. 

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised 

only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is performed. 

1.12.2 Revenue from Non - Exchange Transactions 

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which represents 

an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners. 

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 

in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be 

returned to the transferor. 

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives and can exclude 

or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit. 

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 

gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in exchange. 

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity either 

receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another 

entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be used, but do 

not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if not deployed as specified. 

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the use of a transferred 

asset by entities external to the reporting entity. 

Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes. 

Recognition 

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that 

a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow. 

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 

transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of 
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Measurement 

continued 

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity. 

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to the amount 

of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a liability. Where a liability 

is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting 

date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced, because 

the event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue. 

Transfers 

Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred 

resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy 

the criteria for recognition as an asset. 

Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind 

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind, are recognised as assets and revenue when it is probable that the future economic 

benefits or service potential will fiow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably. 

1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimates and Errors 

Changes in accounting policies that are effected by management have been applied retrospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 

requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the 

change in policy. In such cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest 

period for which retrospective restatement is practicable. 

Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes in estimates 

are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements where applicable. 

Correction of errors is applied retrospectively in the period in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements, 

except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error. In such 

cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which retrospective 

restatement is practicable. Refer to Note 30 to the Annual Financial Statements for details of corrections of errors recorded during 

the period under review. 

1.14 Irregular Expenditure 

Irregular expenditure is expenditure that is contrary to the Public Finance Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999), the National Treasury 

Regulations on Supply Chain Management, National Treasury Practise Note 8 of 2007/08, Preferential Procurement Regulations 

and Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act. Irregular expenditure excludes unauthorised expenditure. Irregular 

expenditure is accounted for as an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.15 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 

been exercised. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is accounted for as expenditure in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

1.16 Related Parties 

Individuals as well as their close family members, and/or entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly 

or indirectly, to control or jointly control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial 

and/or operating decisions. Key management personnel is defined as the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and 

all other managers reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer or as designated by the Chief Executive Officer. 
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1.17 Budget Information 

Entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 

which is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar. 

General purpose financial reporting by entities shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in 

accordance with the legally adopted budget 

The financial statements and the budget are not on the same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation between the 

statement of financial performance and the budget have been included in the financial statements. Refer to note 28. 

Comparative information is not required. 
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Property, plant and equipment 

2.1 Reconciliation of carrying value 

leased Assets 

Leased Computer Equipment 

Other Assets 

Audio & Visual Equipment 

Computers Hardware 

Furniture 

GardenEqu,pment 

Sundry Equipment 

Ve hides 

Workshop Equipment 

Total 

Cost 

184478.60 

184478.60 

2 56137.22 

456978.79 

1 629405.0S 

136 007.3 5 

726 811.45 

949355.54 

72 698.82 

4 227 394.U 

4 411872.82 

2.2 Reconciliation of Property, plant and equipment 

Carrying value 

opening balance 

lusedAsseb 

Leas� Computer Equipment 153 770.05 

153 770.05 

Other Assets 

Audio & Vlsu,11 Equipment 11385821 

Computers Hardwo1re 19851844 

Furniture 1 052 273.79 

G;irdenEqulpment 78 017.38 

5undryEqupment 493 073.35 

Vehicles 1 039 326.47 

Workshopfqulpmenl 38 715.77 

l O ll 783.41 

Total 3167 553.46 

2.3 Reconciliation of Property, plant and equipment 

C1rrylngvalue 

openlngbo1lanc1 

leased Assets 

Leased Computer Equipment 6 131.76 

6 131.76 

Other Assets 

Audio & Visual Equipment 134 771.87 

Computers Hardware 256 658.92 

Furniture 1 118 221.19 

Garden Equipment 82 561.78 

5undryEqulpment 381 610.56 

Ve hides 1 133 167.32 

Workshop Equipment 42 635.63 

3149 627.27 

Tot,11 3155 759.03 

2015 

Residual 
Accumulated 

Carryln1 

value 
Depreciation 

value 
and Impairment 

0.00 67579.02 116 899.SS 

0.00 67 579.02 116899.58 

0.00 174311.22 81826.00 

0.00 335380.07 121 598.72 

O OO  664 5 75 94 964 829 11 

0.00 75 405.72 60 601.63 

0.00 246 310.22 480 501.23 

42300000 454 953.82 917 401.72 

0.00 45 126.24 2 7  5 72.58 

423 000.00 1 996 063.23 2 654 330.99 

42l OOO.DO 2063642.25 2 7711l0.S7 

2015 

Addltlons 
Residual value 

Disponls 
Residu111lvo1tue 

additions disposals 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

9 533.00 0.00 -14 615.97 0.00 

16 851.63 0.00 ·42 540.82 0.00 

14 648.94 0.00 ·2 740.76 0.00 

OOO 0.00 -7 715.S4 OOO 

78 709.67 0.00 -30 392.03 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

5 294.73 0.00 -21 315.51 0.00 

125 037.97 0.00 -119 320.63 0.00 

125 037.97 0.00 ·119 320.63 0.00 

2014 

Additions 
Resldua1v,1lue 

Olsposals 
Ruldualvalue 

additions dlsposals 

184 478.60 0.00 -179 889.55 0.00 

184 478.60 0.00 .179 889.55 0.00 

16429.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

20798.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

32122.40 0.00 O OO O OO 

9 688.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

183270.66 0.00 -3 513.11 0.00 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4 095.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 

266 403.54 0.00 -3 513.11 0.00 

450 882.14 0.00 -183 402.66 0.00 

2.4 Compensation received for losses on property, plant and equipment -included in operating surplus 

Computer equipment 

Sundry equipment 

2.5 Details of valuation 

Not o1pplluble as the the con method Is us� o1nd not the revaluation method 

Items where cost was not o1vo1ilo1ble the deemed replacement cost wu used. 

2.6 Other Information 

The fair vo1lue of the Property, plant o1nd equipment ls not materlo1lly different to the u rrying amount. 

There is no Property, plant o1nd equipment whoie tllle Is restrict�. 

There ls no Property, plant and equipment pl�ged as security for llabl11tles. 

There are no contrilctual commitments for the acquisition of Property, plant ;ind equipment. 

2014 

Accumul;ited 

Cost Reslduatv;ilue Depreciation and Carryln1value 

Impairment 

184 478.60 0.00 30708.55 153 770.05 

184 478.60 0.00 30708.55 153770.05 

261 220.19 0.00 147 361.98 113 858.21 

482 667.98 0.00 284 149.54 198 518.44 

1 617 496.87 0.00 565 223.08 1 052 273.79 

143 722.89 0.00 65 705.51 78 017.38 

678493.81 0.00 185 420.46 493 073.35 

949 355.54 423000.00 33302907 1 039 326.47 

88 719.60 0.00 50 003.83 38 715.77 

4 221676.88 423000.00 1 630893.47 3013783.41 

4 406 155.48 423 000.00 1 661 602.02 3167 553.46 

Oepr1clo1tlon 
OispoHls 

Impairment Revaluation 
Carrying value 

depreclo1tion closlngbalance 

36 870.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 116 899.58 

36 870.47 0.00 0.00 116 899.58 

39 318.57 -12 369.33 0.00 0.00 81 826.00 

76 173 35 ·2494282 0.00 0.00 121 598 72 

100 080.64 •727.78 0.00 0.00 964 829.11 

14 354.0S -4 653.84 0.00 0.00 60 601.63 

76 030.21 -15140.45 OOO 0.00 480 501.23 

121 924.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 917 401.72 

8 735.46 -13 613.05 0.00 0.00 27 572.S8 

436617.0l -71447.27 0.00 0.00 2 654 330.99 

473 487.50 -71 447.27 0.00 0.00 2 771 230.57 2 771 230.57 

Depreciation 
Disposals 

Impairment Aevaluatlon 
Carryincvalue 

depreclo1tion closln1balance 

36 840.31 -179889.55 0.00 0.00 153 770.05 

36 840.31 -179889.55 0.00 0.00 153 770.05 

37 342.66 0.00 0.00 0.00 113 858.21 

78 938.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 198 518.44 

98 069.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 l 052 273.79 

14 232.40 0.00 0.00 0.00 78 017.38 

69 065.59 -770.83 OOO 0.00 493073.35 

93840.85 0.00 0.00 0.00 1 039 326.47 

8 015.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 38 7lS.77 

399S05.12 -770.83 0.00 0.00 3 013 783.41 

436 345.43 -180 660.38 0.00 0.00 3 167 553.46 3 167 553.46 

2015 2014 

16 100.00 0.00 

45 000.00 0.00 

61 100.00 D.00 
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3 Intangible assets 

3.1 Reconciliation of carrying value 

2015 

Cost 
Residual 

value 

Computer software 31 959.48 0.00 

Total 31 959.48 0.00 

3.2 Reconciliation of Intangible Assets 2015 

Carrying value 

opening balance 
Additions 

Computer software 19 946.58 1 238.04 

Total 19 946.58 1 238.04 

3.3 Reconciliation of Intangible Assets 2014 

Carrying value 

opening balance 
Additions 

Computer software 24 825.86 7 619.70 

Total 24 825.86 7 619.70 

3.4 Details of Intangible Assets 

The following material Intangible Assets are included in the carrying value above 

Description 

Microsoft Office 

Carel Draw Graphics 

Adobe Design Standard 6 

Pinnacle Studio 16 Plus 

3.5 Other information 

Remaining 

amortisation 

period 

36 months 

36 months 

36 months 

36 months 

No intangible asset were assessed having an indefinite useful life. 

There are no internally generated intangible assets at reporting date. 

There are no intangible assets whose title is restricted. 

There are no intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities 

Accumulated 

Amortisation 

and Impairment 

26 087.92 

26 087.92 

There are no contractual corn mitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 

Carrying 

value 

5 871.56 

5 871.56 

Disposals 

-17 700.00 

-17 700.00 

Disposals 

0.00 

0.00 

continued 

Cost 

48 421.44 

48 421.44 

Amortisation 

9 162.68 

9162.68 

Amortisation 

12 498.98 

12 498.98 

31 March 2015 

5 185.00 

180.00 

0.00 

506.00 

2014 

Residual value 

0.00 

0.00 

Disposals 

depreciation 

-11 549.62 

-11 549.62 

Disposals 

depreciation 

0.00 

Carrying value 

Accumulated 

Amortisation and 

Impairment 

28 474.86 

28 474.86 

Impairment 

0.00 

0.00 

Impairment 

0.00 

0.00 

31 March 2014 

7 167.00 

360.00 

11 480.00 

939.00 

Carrying value 

19 946.58 

19 946.58 

Revaluation 
Carrying value 

closing balance 

0.00 5 871.56 

0.00 0.00 5 871.56 

Revaluation 
Carrying value 

closing balance 

0.00 19 946.58 

0.00 0.00 19 946.58 
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31 March 2015 ! 31 March 2014 I 

4 Heritage assets 1.00 1.00 

Heritage assets falling under the Board of Assets of the McGregor Museum consist of 

4.1 Infrastructure Heritage Assets Land with heritage buildings thereon, and public displays therein 

Name of Museum Building or Site 
Unencumbered ownershie :-
Sanatorium 
Dunluce 
Rudd House 
Duggan Cronin Gallery 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum 
Servitude :-
Wonderwerk Cave 
Occueation (custodianshie l :-

Alexander McGregor Museum 
Pioneers of Aviation 

4.2 Collections and Library materials 

4.2.1 Descrietion 

Address Descrietion 

2-12 Egerton Road Belgravia Kimberley Erf 01/00000/000 
10 Lodge Road Belgravia Kimberley Erf 01/00000/484 
5 Loch Road Belgravia Kimberley Erf 01/00000/507 
2-12 Egerton Road Belgravia Kimberley Erf 01/00000/000 
Magersfontein Farm District Madder River 

Portion of Farm Ga Segonyane District 

18 Chapel Street Kimberley Erf 01/100010/340 
Alexandersfontein Way Kimberley Erf 01/00000/000 

The museum has a diversity of collections that is linked to its various disciplines eg African material culture, archaeology, botany, zoology, and history. 
These collections are held in trust on behalf of the nation, and form the core of the museum's functions. 
The individual items in the collections are termed museum artefacts or specimens . 
Artefacts and specimens are acquired by way of decades of research, observation and gathering by dedicated researchers both from the museum and 
from other institutions. Artefacts are also acquired by way of donations from the public, and, very rarely by outright purchase of artefacts. 
Acceptance of an artefact or specimen into a museum collection is termed accessioning. 
The process of accessioning involves establishing the provenance of the artefact, ( description, source, date, history, any other information etc). 
If found acceptable for accessioning, the artefact or specimen is allocated a unique accession number ( akin to on asset number). 

In some instances the same accession number is given to multiple items if they are all interrelated. 
These numbers are recognised internationally - in the case of McGregor Museum they are all suffixed with the identifier MMK (McGregor Museum 
Kimberley) - followed by a combination of alpha-numeric characters. 
Depending on the nature of the artefact, the accession number is affixed to the artefact by a variety of methods - engraving, marking in indelible ink, 

labelling, labelling on storage package etc. 
Once accessioned, the artefact or specimen requires ongoing conservation and curatorial attention of a very high standard, plus physical safeguarding 
from damage, deterioration, vandalism and theft. Use is made of fire-protected secure storerooms, walk-in safes, temperature and humidity 
controlled containers etc. Special acid-free storage boxes, paper and other collection materials are used for storage eg pure alcohol . 
Every accessioned artefact or specimen is recorded in the accession register of each particular collection (akin to on asset register). 

Details recorded in the accession registers are the accession number, plus details of provenance, description, source, date, history, other information, and 
more recently, with the advent of digitalisation, photos and links. 
The museum's collections date back to its establishment in 1907. During stock takes done over the past 15-20 years it has become clear that much of the earliest 
items are unaccounted for. Old accession registers are leather bound books, completed manually in writing. 
With the advent of digitisation, the registers are being digitised using software developed specifically for museum collections, essentially converting the 
manual accession registers into vast searchable databases. None of the collections are fully digitised yet. They are all at varying stages of digitisation. 
The manual registers are still maintained side by side with the electronic registers. 
Most of the library materials are rare African a material of which most was donated to the library. These are also no longer in print. 
The method of procurement of specimens/objects, the subsequent handling, accessioning, storing, cataloguing, digitisation, displaying, deaccessioning and 
disposal of these specimens/objects etc differs from department to department and is explained in each department's policy. 
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Heritage assets continued 

4.2 Collections and Library materials continued 

4.2.2 Current coUectlons Include:· 

Museum 

Department or 

Disclpllne 

Archaeology 

Botany 

History 

Photographic 

Name of collection 

Most accessions represent assemblages from sites mostly in the Northern Cape, i.e. can 
range from 1 artefact per accession to tens of thoosands each. In some cases new 
material to be acquired in the future will receive the same historic accession number. 
For various historic reasons there are large gaps in the sequence. 
NOTE: While only 2 accessions were added in 2014, very large numbers of artefacts I 
were acquired/processed under older accession numbers, i.e. 6538, 7457, 7459,7460, 
7467, 7472, 7473, 8060. A large assemblage from Diamond Park, being curated in 2014· 
15, will not be accessioned at all as it will need by law to be reburied. 

I Herbarium (plant specimens) 

\ Historic Documents and manuscripts: MMK (old collection); Estates 

IMMKD 
MMKDMH 

I Photographs: Historic 

I Duggan-Cron;n and Aubrey Emot 
Jean Morris 

Material Culture Western 

I 
Material Culture African 

Military 

Zoology 

Library 

Anthropological artefacts 

I Military artefacts 

Archaeozoology 
Herpetology 
Mammology 
Ornithology 

Africana materials 

I 

I 

Number of Items In 

collection on 31 
March 2014 

7 552 

3S910 

10960 

14 283 
2 025 

11 788 

8 307 
6 301 

16 889 

4 SOO 

2014 

35000 

5 618 

I 

continued 

Number of 

additions for the 
period 1 April 2014 • 

31 March 2015 

2 

437 

0 

100 
92 

1S8 

0 
833 

363 

0 

I 1 

I 

I 

Total 

7 554 

36 347 

10960 

14 383 
2 117 

11946 

8 307 
7 134 

17 2S2 

4 S00 

2 015 

3S OOO 

5 618 

Brief description of artefacts or specimens 

Stone tools, ceramics, metal, glass and 
porcelain specimens, anlmat remains 
(bones), sediment samples, human remains 
{skeletal) 

I 
Mounted grasses, herbs, shrubs, bulbs, 
(seeds, leaves & flowers of trees) etc. 

Letters, diaries, certificates, pamphlets, 
bank notes, maps, legal documents, estate I 
papers etc etc 
in fact any paper based object 

Negatives(glass, cellulose), Postcards, 
I Photographs (colour, BW, sepia) 

Textiles, furniture, ceramics, medals, coins, I 
cutlery, cameras, typewriters etc etc 

in fact any Western cultural object 

Beads, pottery,bows arrows and spears, loin 

Department 
head 

DrD Morris 

8otan1stpostvacant 
th�evears 

V. Allen 

V.Allen 

V.Allen 

Collection 

manager 

Vincent Dlnku 

Annemarie van 
Heerden 

I Yvoone Kok I 

I Robert Hart I 

I Dominic McAnda I 

. 
I

Anthropologist post cloths, grass and skm mats, egg shells etc h I Post defunded Ivacant t reevears 
etc 
in fact any African cultural object 

Weapons and memorabilia, uniforms, 

l
batt

.
lef1eld debns, ammunition, shells, field I 5unet Swane I I

equipment, medals, buttons and badge 
poe 

etcs 

I B. Wilson 

Skeletal material 
Reptiles 
Mammals 
Birds 

I Books and scientific journals I libr.arypostvacint 
lhreeyeirs 

No post I 

Collectiol'!Man.aaer 
pc,stv�cantfornine 

years 

No post 

"of Ace1nion 
Recist� 
di1ital!Rd 

60% 

63% 

83% 

64% 

33% 

0% 

90% 

SO% 
0% 

70% 
95% 

80% 

Only one arch.aroloeist for entire 
province, post of second 

archaeol<>1ist vacant seven 
yea,s 

COllect,on man.acer on elCtended 
sickleaveforfourmonths ofthis 

veir/20151 

1 volunteer twice ii monlh 
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4 Heritage assets continued 

4.2 Collections and Library materials continued 

4.2.3 Useful Economic Lives 

Heritage assets in museums are intended to have indefinite or infinite economic lives. It is one of the core functions of museums to conserve, protect 
and preserve these assets for the benefit of present and future generations. 
Once accessioned, an artefact cannot be be sold nor disposed of. The process of de-accessioning is a stringent process in terms of the Museums Ordinance 
and the entity's own collections policies, requiring permission from the Museum Board and the MEC. In practice, de-accessioning never occurs - only if 
an item is stolen, vandalised or destroyed by an act of God or nature (fire, earthquake, warfare etc) does this happen. 
In fact, due to professional staff vacancies and other security concerns, the museum's collections were last year placed at the top of the Department of 
Sport, Arts and Culture's risk assessment by an official from Provincial Treasury. 

4.2.4 Valuation 

5 

Museum management contends that there is no objective nor rational method of valuing its heritage assets, and even if there were, the costs involved 
would be prohibitively expensive, far beyond the means of the museum at the present time (requiring outside professional expertise, some of which is 
not even available within South Africa ). 
The land and original buildings were acquired by donations over the past century, and have been subsequently added to or extended since acquisition. 
They will never be disposed of on the open market, so cannot be related to the commercial property market. 
Most of the items in the collections, by their very nature (refer to descriptions of the artefacts above) do not readily lend themselves to valuation. 
Concepts like "priceless", "invaluable" and "irreplaceable" come into play when considering museum collections, which are indeed national treasures. 

The buildings and collections are covered by insurance, but the policy does not specify individual items. The policy provides blanket cover, which is upped 
every year by a percentage derived from CPIX inflation numbers and other risk considerations (this policy was specifically designed by Santam for the 
larger museums and art galleries in the country). Thus insured values do not assist in GRAP103 compliance regarding valuations. 

Any attempt at valuation could never meet any objective standard of fairness, nor be complete, so management's view is that auditors could never 
express an opinion thereon. 
As such, with the recognition of the entity's heritage assets, neither the revaluation model nor the cost model that GRAP 103 prescribes can be used 
as a method to determine fair value. 

Other Non-current assets 

Non-current portion of long term receivable 

Capitalised receivable· at cost 

Current portion transferred to Current Assets 
Capitalised receivable· at cost 

Total long-term receivable 

Total repayments remaining 
Receivable in less than one year 
Receivable later than one year less than five years 

Note 6 

31 March 201S 

59 575.70 
59 575.7 0 
52 985.2 8 
52 985 28! 

6 590.42 

59 575.70 
52 985.28 

6 590.42 

The receivable arises from 2009 and is owed by a supplier who defaulted and against whom 
judgment was obtained for the amount of R231 961, payable in monthly instalments with costs. 
Monthly instalments received from the collecting attorney amount to R4 413. 

! 31 March 2014 ! 

112 213.14 
112 213.14 

53 01 6.24 
53 016.24! 
59196.90 

112 213.14 
53 016.24 
59196.90 
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I Figures in Rand 

6 Trade and other receivables 
Current 
From exchange transactions 
Trade receivables 

From non-exchange transactions 
Accrued income 
Electricity deposit 
Outstanding insurance claim 
Other receivables 
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 
Current portion of long term receivable Note 5 
Prepayments 

6.1 Age analysis of Trade receivables:-
0 - 30 days R 42 572.00 30 - 60 days 
60 - 90 days R 0.00 90 - 120 days 
120 days+ R 94 873.07 Total 

continued 

31 March 2015 

154 201.90 
154 201.901 

so 724.14 
700.00 

3 200.00 
53 100.00 

9 547.34 
-15 823.20 
52 985.28 

1 750.00 
259 661.32 

R 13 123.87 
R 3632.96 
R 154 201.90 

31 March 2014 

261 843.48 
261 843.481 

3 786.76 
8 757.00 
3 200.00 
4 020.00 

0.00 
-12 190.24 
53 016.24 

1 750.00 
320 396.48 

The Trustees consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value. 

7 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and balances with banks 
Short-term deposits 
Cash floats and cash on hand 

233 917.92 
2 134 396.90 

66 900.00 
2 435 214.82 

166 230.73 
2 187 794.73 

32 500.00 
2 386 525.46 

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered 
banking institutions with maturities of one week or less and that are subject to insignificant interest rate risk. 

8 Finance lease liability 
Capitalised lease liability - at amortised cost 

Current portion transferred to Current Liabilities 
Capitalised lease liability - at amortised cost 

Total long-term liability -
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 

Refer below for maturity dates of long term liabilities: 

128 580.73 
128 580.73 

35 864.83 
35 864.83 

92 715.90 

161 532.89 
161 532.89 

32 952.16 
32 952.16 

128 580.73 

The obligations under finance leases are scheduled below: Minimum lease payments 

Amounts payable under finance leases: 
Payable within I one year 
Payable within two to five years 
Payable after five years 

Less: Future finance charge obligations 
Present value of lease obligations 

Leases are secured by Property, plant and equipment - note 2. 
The capitalised lease liability consists of the following contract: 

45 418.32 
102 191.22 

0.00 
147 609.54 

19 028.81 
128 580.73 

Supplier Description of leased item Effective interest rate Annual escalation Lease term Maturity date 

Fintech Xerox photocopier 9% 0% 5 years 1 June 2017 
The finance lease is for a period of 60 months with a 0% escalation clause. 

9 Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 
Accrued expenses 
Prepaid income 
Sundry creditors 

18 576.64 
6 400.00 

232 369.28 
257 345.92 

The Trustees consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value. 

10 Conditional grants liability 
Unspent balances of conditional grants carry forward 128 382.81 

128 382.81 

45 418.32 
147 609.54 

0.00 
193 027.92 

31 495.03 
161 532.89 

8 191.25 
13 500.00 

359 369.05 
381 060.30 

77 001.67 
77 001.67 
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! Figures in Rand

11 Public contributions and donations 
Public contributions - Conditional 
Public contributions - Unconditional 
Donations 
Total public contributions and donations 

Reconciliation of conditional contributions 
Balance unspent at beginning of year 
Current year receipts 
Conditions met - transferred to revenue 
Conditions still to be met - remain liabilities (note 9 ) 

Project Bala nee uns[,!ent 

History of Liberation Struggle in the Northern Cape 0.00 

Rosa Luxemburg Oral History Project 13 250.32 

Nooitgedacht Rock Art Project 42 280.00 

NRF Indigenous Knowledge Project 72 852.49 

128 382.81 

12 Transfers and sponsorships 
Transfer payment from controlling entity DSAC 
Sponsorships received 

13 Sale of goods and rendering of services 
Admission fees 
Administration fees 
Proceeds of postcards, brochures, booklets, books, 
prints and military medals 
Proceeds of game culling and grazing fees 
(Magersfontein) 
Professional fees 
Subscriptions 
Outside user charges levied 

14 Rental of facilities and equipment 
Gift shop renta Is 
Flat rentals 
Hire of hall 
Hire of overnight accommodation and facilities-
Magersfontein 
Hire of overnight accommodation and facilities -
Wonderwerk Cave 
Hire of facilities - Wildebeest Kuil 

15 Interest earned - external investments 
Interest on short term bank deposits 

16 Interest earned - outstanding receivables 
Interest on overdue receivables 

continued 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

351 925.10 411 246.57 
218 276.10 147 713.01 

8 482.85 10 239.82 
578 684.05 569 199.40 

77 001.67 488 248.24 
403 306.24 0.00 

-351 925.10 -411 246.57
128 382.81 77 001.67

Funder 

Department of Sport Arts and Culture 

Rosa Luxemburg Foundation 
National Lotteries Distibution Trust Fund 
National Research Foundation 

2 953 000.00 2 913 260.00 
61 675.00 0.00 

3 014 675.00 2 913 260.00 

254 875.00 193 614.95 
37 670.62 25 549.72 

6 427.00 7 521.00 

0.00 320.00 

256 551.72 404 502.34 
0.00 50.00 

7 672.50 21 331.87 
563196.84 652 889.88 

82 560.00 73 725.00 
16 770.00 25 950.00 
38 940.00 17 600.00 

14 700.00 7 650.00 

17 360.00 25 585.70 

22 350.00 13 500.00 
192 680.00 164 010.70 

81 363.96 86 898.45 
81 363.96 86 898.45 

2 101.34 5 327.80 
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j Figures in Rand 31 March 2014 31 March 2013 

17 Employee related costs 
Salaries : contract workers 527 308.54 534 497.05 
Wages: casual workers 650 478.76 514 774.82 
Total employee related costs 1 177 787.30 1 049 271.87 

18 Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Audio-visual equipment 39 318.57 37 342.66 
Computer hardware 76 173.35 78 938.48 
Furniture, fixtures and shelving 100 080.64 98 069.80 
Garden tools and equipment 14 354.05 14 232.40 
Motor vehicles 121 924.75 93 840.85 
Sundry equipment 76 030.21 69 065.59 
Workshop tools and equipment 8 735.46 8 015.34 
Leased asset: Computer equipment 36 870.47 36 840.31 

473 487.50 436 345.43 
Amortisation of Intangible Assets 9 162.68 12 498.98 
Total depreciation and amortisation expense 482 650.18 448 844.41 

19 Repairs and maintenance 
Materials 103 976.91 119 850.81 
Outside services 214 184.22 231 249.01 
Skills development team 9 860.00 6 460.00 
Total repairs and maintenance 328 021.13 357 559.82 

20 Contracted services 
Outside cleaning service 0.00 101 806.65 
Total contracted services 0.00 101 806.65 

21 Grants and subsidies paid 
Grants to province-aided museums 63 000.00 57 000.00 
Grants to municipal museums 12 000.00 10 900.00 
Grants to community museums 12 000.00 11 100.00 
Total grants and subsidies paid 87 000.00 79 000.00 
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I Figures in Rand 

22 General expenses 
Advertising, marketing and outreach 
Audit fees 
Bank charges 
Cleaning and refuse removal 
Conferences and delegations 
Consulting fees 
Consumables 
Entertainment and catering 
Electricity 
Fuel and oil 
Insurance 
Licence fees - vehicles 
Licence fees - computers 
Postage and courier 
Printing and stationery 
Professional fees 
Rental of buildings 
Security costs 
Stocks and material 
Subscriptions and publications 
Subsistence and travel 
Staff presentations 
Telephone and internet costs 
Training 

Transport claims 
Uniforms and overalls 
Water and sanitation 
Other - permits 
Total general expenses 

23 Finance costs 
Finance lease 
Total finance costs 

24 Loss ( - gain) on disposal of assets 
Loss ( -gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

25 Impairment loss 
Other financial assets: short term deposit 
Other financial assets:other receivables 
Provision for impairment of current receivables 
Total Impairment losses 

26 Net cash generated from operating activities 

Surplus (loss) for the year 
Non-cash adjustment for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Loss/(Gain) on sale of assets 
Impairment loss 
Contribution/(utilised) provision for service bonus 

Operating surplus before working capital changes 

lncrease/(Decrease) in payables 
(lncrease)/Decrease in receivables 
lncrease/(Decrease) in conditional grants 

Net cash flows generated from 

continued 

31 March 2014 

25 005.06 
465 087.63 

46 762.19 
83 617.13 

332 953.75 
65 431.20 
23 562.19 
95 280.15 

546 668.19 
160 192.69 
258 748.84 

4 058.75 
4 574.57 
2 833.06 

52 312.49 
46 694.00 

7 410.00 
74 683.25 
14 650.99 

8 905.64 
101 333.42 

6 978.19 
114 357.10 

1480.00 
5 000.00 
9 577.14 

185 048.72 
0.00 

2 743 206.34 

14 114.88 
14 114.88 

-7 076.26
-7 076.26

1 294.45 
2 520.00 
3 632.96 
7 447.41 

-369 764.79

482 650.18 
-7 076.26
7 447.41

0.00 

113 256.54 

-123 714.38 
54 551.24
51 381.14 

-- -- - - -

31 March 2013 

19 335.60 
386 807.77 

45 783.33 
68 832.78 
10 750.80 

188 514.84 
22 740.63 
23 696.96 

568 596.63 
151 411.66 
243 472.88 

3 258.00 
5 071.42 
7 586.05 

31 592.84 
30 970.00 
6 270.00 

68 773.55 
185 985.56 

9 318.19 
92 346.30 

3 490.61 
130 440.72 

0.00 
8 997.97 

29 491.84 
179 497.93 

1 200.00 
2 524 234.86 

12 158.84 
12 158.84 

2 742.28 
2 742.28 

0.00 
0.00 

12 190.24 
12 190.24 

-196 222.74 

448 844.41 
2 742.28 

12 190.24 
396.25 

267 950.44 

78 440.83 
-127 306.76
-411 246.57

--- - -- --
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27 Comparison of budget and actual amounts 

Budget section 

Income 

SUBSIDY 

Total Subsidy Income 

TRUST 

Total Trust income 

Total Income 

Expenses 
SUBSIDY 

Total Subsidy upenses 

TRUST 

Total Trust e11penses 

Total ExDenses 

Transfer payment received from parent deputment 

Own general income from outside sources 

Sponsorships received 
Donations received 

Sales of goods and rendering of services 

Rental of facilities and equipment 

Interest received 

Proceeds of insurance claims 

paid rrom 1r.insfer p.iyment from parent dep.inment 

Employee costs 
Repairs and maintenance 
Grants and subsidies paid 
General e,cpenses 
Finance costs 
Equipment 

paid from own 1eneral income from outside wurces 

Employee costs 
General e,cpenses 

Total Surplus as Budgetted compared to Actual 

SUBSIDY DEFICIT 

TRUST SURPLUS 

Notes 

In-year adjustments 

continued 

Approved In-year Note Adjusted 

bud et adlustments budeet 

2 953 OOO 

2 953 OOO 

19 700 

13000 .5 300 

237 SOO SS OOO 

168 SOO 21700 

100000 

20800 

S19 OOO 111900 

3 472 OOO 111900 

476 900 -51900 
241600 -300 

87000 
2 067 SOO -8 300 

20000 -6000 
60 000 66SOO 

2 953 OOO 

4Sl 800 -19 500 
49000 47 300 

SOO 800 27 800 

3 453 800 27 800 

18 200 84100 

18200 84 100 

1.1 

1.1 

1.1 

1.1 

1.1 

1.2 

1.2 

1.2 

1.2 

1.2 

1.2 

1.2 

2 953 OOO 

2 953 OOO 

19 700 

7 700 

292 SOO 

190 200 
100000 

20 800 

630 900 

3 583 900 

425 OOO 
241300 
87000 

2 059 200 
14 000 

126 SOO 

2 953 OOO 

432 300 
96300 

528 600 

3 481600 

102 300 

102 300 

Actual 

2 953 000.00 

2 953 OOO 

61675.00 

8 482.85 
306 645.12 

192 680.00 
83 465.30 

30 685.00 

683 633.27 

3 636 633.27 

420 593.42 
289 706.94 

87 000.00 
2 061 387.14 

14 114.88 
126 276.01 

2 999 078.39 

433 091.20 
141 145.51 

S74 236.71 

3 573 315.10 

63 318.17 

-46 078.39 

109 396.S6 

Variance 

41 975.00 Favourable 

782.85 Favourable 

14 145.12 Favourable 

2 480.00 Favourable 

-16 S34.70 Unf.ivour.ible 

9 88S.OO hvour.ible 

52 733.27 f.ivou�ble 

52 733.27 Favour.ible 

4 406.58 Favour.ible 
-48 406.94 Unfa11ourable 

0.00 

-2187.14 Unfavourable 
-114.88 Unfavour.ible 
223.99 Fa11ourt1ble 

-46 078.39 Unfavourable 

-791.20 Unfavour1ble 
-44 845.51 Unfavourable 

-45 636.71 Unfavourable 

-91 715.10 Unfavourable 

38 981.83 Unfavourable 

46 078.39 Unfavouro1ble 

-7 096.56 Favourable 

Note 2 

0% 

0.0% 

213.1% 

10.2% 
4.8% 

1.3% 
-16.5% 

47.S% 

8.4% 

1.5% 

1.0% 
-20.1% 

-0.1% 
-0.8% 
0.2% 

-1.6% 

-0.2% 
-46.6% 

-8.6% 

-2.6% 

38.1% 

-6.9% 

Budgetted Income and EKpenses were adjusted upwards or downwards during the year, based upon trends that became apparent durlns the course of the year . Sisnificant 
changes included:· 

1.1 
Increases in budgetted revenues for sponsorships received (RB OOO for book launch event and R6 700 for Director's farewell function}; services rendered R55 OOO (higher than 
forecast admissions revenues}; rentals of facflitles R21 700 (visitors flat, hall hire and overnight chalets) plus proceeds of insurance claims received (for damage to Dunluce stained 
11lass window); offset by lower than forecast donations received RS 300 (loss of De Beers library book grant). 

It should be noted that increases in budgetted revenue are in some instances matched by increases in related budgetted e11penses. 

1.2 Increases in budgetted amounts for purchase of capital equipment of R66 500 derived from enhance budgetted revenues and savings on budgetted employee costs (malnly 
savings arising from mid-year appointment of curator of Calvinia Museum to provincial staff, plus other cost savings), and an increase Jn general e>cpenses of R23 OOO (relating to 
the addittonal sponsorships received for events plus other e11penses). Finance costs on a finance lease were also reduced by R6 OOO following a re-calculation of amortised costs. 

Variances 

Actual revenues further e11ceeded the adjusted budgetted revenues in respect of an uneKpected sponsorship of R42 OOO received near to year-end (for a schools outreach 
2.1 programme); services rendered (Rl4 145 mainly admission fees}; hire of facilities (RZ 480); donations (R783) and a further insurance claim received of R9 860 (for leaking water 

damage to interior of Dunluce). Interest Income fell short of budget by Rl6 535 (mainly due to a lower pool of funds available for investment throughout the year, primarily caused 
by the late receipt of the annual transfer payment). 
It should be noted that increases in actual revenue were in some Instances matched by Increases In related e,cpenses. 

2.2 

Total subsidy e,cpenses e11ceeded budget by R46 078, mainly due to higher than budgetted audit fee e,cpenses and infrastructure maintenance costs (buildings, equipment and 
displays). In addition general e,cpenses were R48 145 over budget, mainly relating to the costs of food packages provided to learners visiting the museum as part of the sponsored 
schools outreach programme (R42 OOO). 

2.3 
Overall, there was a favourable variance in Total Income for the year of RS2 733 (1.5%), and an unfavourable variance in Total E,cpenses of R91 715 (2.6%). 

2.4 
As a result, the Subsidy received from Province was fully e,cpended, and an overall surplus of R63 318 was achieved for the year. This represents a shortfall of R38 981 against the 
budgetted surplus, but an improvement on the original budgetted surplus forecast, which amounted to R18 200. 

Reconciliation of Actual per above statement to Statement of Performance 

Total actual surplus restated above using budget format basis ( to make comparable to budget) 
Add: Museum departmental revenue not provided for in budget (as no reasonable way to estimate in advance) 

I
Non-e,cchange: Public contributions for research 
hchange: Sale of goods and rendering of services 

Contributions to revenue from conditional grants spent during the year 
INon-e,cchanae: Opera1lng expenses 

Blackfooted Cat research project 
Professional fees, sales of books etc 

Less: Museum departmental expenses not provided for in budget (as no reasonable way to estimate revenue J 

'
Employee related costs 

Repairs and maintenance 
Genera1e11penses 

Less: Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets adjustments 

Conltact and casual workers, subsistence and tr.i11el 

Vehicle maintenance 
Includes consuttln1 fees and stocks and materials 

I
Capltallutlon of PPE and Intangible Assets additions included ln Subsidy Sudgetted e,cpenses 
Depreciation and 1mortlsatlon raised on PPE o1nd lntan&]ble Aneu 

Gain on disposals of assets not provided for in budget 

Impairment losses not provided for in budget 

Net surplus Revenue Expenses Other 

ldeficiU gains/losses 
63 318.17 3636633.27 3 573 315.10 

474 827.82 474827.82 
218 276.10 
256 551.72 

0.00 
0.00 351925.10 351 92S.10 

-551 165.46 5Sl 165.46 
-324 102.68 

-16842.84 
-210 219.94 

-356 374.17 356374.17 
126 276.01 

-482 650.18 

7 076.26 -7 076.26 
-7 447.41 7 447.41 
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28 Financial instruments 

Credit risk 

continued 

The entity does not consider there to be any significant concentration of credit risk, which has not been adequately provided for. 

Trade and other receivables are presented net of allowance for impairment. 

Liquidity risk 

The entity manages liquidity risk through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and actual versus forecasted 

budget/cash flows. The Board has adequate reserves to operate effectively. 

Fair values 

The entity's financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. 

No financial asset was carried at an amount in excess of its fair value and fair value could reliably be measured for all financial 

assets that are available-for-sale or held-for-trading. 

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the fair value of each class of financial instruments: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value due to the relatively short maturity of the 

financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Receivables 

The carrying amount of receivables, net of provision for impairment, approximates fair value due to the relatively short 

maturity of this financial asset. 

No receivables are pledged as security for financial liabilities. 

Trade payables 

The carrying amount of trade payables approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of this financial liability. 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities at balance sheet date are as follows : 

Year ended 31/03/2015 Category Fair value Carrying amount 

Financial assets 

Non-current receivables Amortised cost 6 590.42 6 590.42 

Cash and bank balances Amortised cost 2 435 214.82 2 435 214.82 

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables 259 661.32 259 661.32 

Total financial assets 2 701 466.56 2 701 466.56 

Financial liabilities 

Finance lease Amortised cost 92 715.90 92 715.90 

Payables Amortised cost 257 345.92 257 345.92 

Total financial liabilities 350 061.82 350 061.82 

Year ended 31/03/2014 Category Fair value Carrying amount 

Financial assets 

Non-current receivables Amortised cost 59 196.90 59 196.90 

Cash and bank balances Amortised cost 2 386 525.46 2 386 525.46 

Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables 320 396.48 320 396.48 

Total financial assets 2 766 118.84 2 766 118.84 

Financial liabilities 

Finance lease Amortised cost 128 580.73 128 580.73 

Payables Amortised cost 381 060.30 381 060.30 

Total financial liabilities 509 641.03 509 641.03 
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29 Financial risk management 

continued 

The entity's financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. 
Principles of risk management 
The entity is exposed in particular to risks from movement in interest rates that affect its assets and liabilities. Financial risk management 
aims to limit these market risks through ongoing operational and finance activities. The fundamentals of the entity's financial policy are 
established by the Board. Implementing the finance policy and for ongoing risk management rests with the Board. Certain transactions require 
the prior approval of the Board which is also regularly briefed to the extent and the amount of the current risk exposure. 
Interest rate risk 
The entity is exposed to interest rate risk in South Africa. The entity does not make use of interest rate derivatives and therefore 100% of the 
interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities had a variable interest rate. 
Sensitivity analysis 
Interest rate risks are presented by way of sensitivity analysis. This shows the effect of changes in the market interest rate on interest 
payments, interest income and expenses, other income components and if appropriate equity. 
The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions 
Changes in the market interest rates affect the interest income or expenses of non-derivative variable-interest financial instruments, 
the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of cash flow hedges against interest 
rate risks. As a consequence, they are included in the calculation of income-related sensitivities. 
A one percentage movement in the effective interest rate would have the following effect on the net income for the year : 

Interest income I Cash and cash equivalents 

Other price risk 
The entity is not exposed to price risk. 
Foreign currency risk 
The entity is not exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk. 
Credit risk 

+1% 
693.50 -693.50 

Financial assets or non-financial assets which potentially subject the entity to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and receivables. The entity's cash is placed with high quality financial institutions. Trade receivables are disclosed net of 
provision for impairment. 
The provision for impairment is allocated as follows: 
Trade receivables 
Other receivables 

Receivables are individually evaluated at Balance Sheet date for impairment. 

Liquidity risk 

-15 823.201 
o.oo

_ 

-15 823.20 

12 190.241 
0.00 

12 190.24 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The entity's approach 
to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, when 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the entity's 
reputation. 
The entity monitors its cash flow requirements on an ongoing basis which takes into account the servicing of financial 
obligations, but excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. 

The table below analyses the entity's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings bases on the remaining period at the 
financial year end to the contractual maturity date. 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

2015 
Finance lease liability 

Capital repayments 
Interest 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 

Cash and cash equivalents 

2014 
Finance lease liability 

Capital repayments 
Interest 

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 

Less than 1 
year 

45 418.32 
35 864.83 

9 553.49 
257 345.92 
302 764.24 

2 435 214.82 

Less than 1 
year 

45 418.32 
32 952.16 
12 466.16 

381 060.30 
426 478.62 

Between 1 and 
5 years 

102 191.22 
92 715.85 

9 475.37 
0.00 

102 191.22 

0.00 

Between 1 and 
5 years 

147 609.54 
128 580.67 

19 028.87 
0.00 

147 609.54 
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Figures in Rand 

30 Taxation 

continued 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

The McGregor Museum is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10(1 )(Zc) of the Income Tax Act. 

31 Contingencies 

The entity does not have any contingent assets nor liabilities on 31 March 2014 that require disclosure in terms of GRAP 19, 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

32 Related parties 

Relationships 

Board members with significant influence 

Key management 

Controlling Department with significant influence 

Related party balances 

Related party transactions 

Grants received from related parties 

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

33 Honorarium and Remuneration of Board Members and Key Management 

Board members 

Remuneration, honoraria, travel claims 

Key management 

Mr K Matthews 

MrT Thobeli 

Ms J Ntwane 

Mr MM Setlogelo 

Mr D Allen 

Mr R Bruce (deceased 30.11.14) 

Ms MM Moloi 

Mr BM Maribe 

Mr C Fortune (CEO - until 30.09.14)) 

Ms 5 Swanepoel (interim CEO - from 1.10.14) 

Mr R Green (accountant) 

Mr C Smit (Assistant Manager) 

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

31 March 2015 

R42000.00 

R42000.00 

R 2 953 OOO 

None 

31 March 2014 

None 

None 

R 2913 260 

None 

Key management are remunerated by the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture. 

34 Events after the reporting date 

No significant events occurred after reporting date that materially affect the financial performance and position reported. 

35 Irregular expenditure 

Opening balance 

Add: Irregular expenditure - current year 

Less: Irregular expenditure - condoned 

31 March 2015 

0 

457 032 

0 

457 032 

The full extent of the irregular expenditure of R457 032 as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements, is still in the process of being investigat, 
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Supervisor 
Gardeners 
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Supervisor 
Artisan 
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Assistants 

*BOARD EMPLOYEES

McGregor Museum Staff 
APRIL 2014- MARCH 2015 

Colin Fortune MA (Retired - 30 September 2014) 
Coert Smit BA THOD 
Rodney Green B Comm; Dip Ace 
Felicity Msuthu 
Beryl Camroodien• 
Daniel van Scalkwyk 
Ida Maphumulo 
Yusef Alexander 

Esau Richards*; Richard Richards; Evelyn van Schalkwyk* 
Chrissie van Schalkwyk*; Charles van Schalkwyk (Retired-30 June 2014) 
Bafana Ndebele 
Frank Lunt• 
Museum closed - open on request 
Frank Higgo 
Museum closed - open on request 
Museum closed - open on request 
Museum closed - open on request 
Petrus Wilson• 
Jonny Esau; Iris Khabae* 
Elizabeth Moshounyane; Jennifer Buffel; Charlene Coetzee• 

David Morris PhD 

Vida Allen B Bibi; MA 
Sunet Swanepoel B Bibi; MA 
Sephai Mngqolo Museum & Heritage Dip 

Beryl Wilson ND; B Tech; BA (Hons) 

Vincent Dinku; Jane Joubert•; Chantel Wilson•; Melony Jafta*; Kool Msawu]a• 
Annemarie van Heerden ND Nat Cons 
Dominique McAnda; Lenah Nkwane; Jenny Gibbs 
Yvonne Kok 
Jack Oliphant 
Robert Hart BA (Hons); Anna du Plessis BA (Hons)• 

Suzanne Erasmus BSc (Hons) STD 

Marie Lodewyk 
Portia Genge 
Tanja Cilliers BA (Fine Art), AT dip!, PGCE (Resigned - I Jan 2015) 

Coert Smit 
Jackson van Schalkwyk; Gert van Schalkwyk*; Abel van Schalkwyk*; Andries Mathebula*; 
Jurie Blom*; Moses van Schalkwyk* 

Toys Moncho 
Jacob Seekoei (Deceased) 



ARCHAEOLOGY 

DAVID MORRIS, HEAD OF ARCHAEOLOGY 

VINCENT DINKU, COLLECTION MANAGER 
dmorris@museumsnc.co.za 

ABENICIA HENDERSON, HERITAGE UNIT (June-March 2015) 

PETRUS WILSON, CONTRACT WORKER, WIDEBEEST KUIL 

(Together with casual workers employed through projhect funds) 

"Museums make a central contribution to the democratization of nations 
by encouraging free debate and confronting authoritarian versions of the 
truth" 

- Taipei Declaration 2014.

In citing the international museum community's Taipei Declaration we 
are reminded of the wider context - implied if not quite spelled out in 
our official objectives - in which museums are called to be thought
provoking, to contextualise, stimulate debate, prompt questions, 
and inspire or weave together a multiplicity of stories. Museums and 
sites can be places where the public, in their different 'voices: join in 
discussion and interpretation rather than merely being talked to and 
told. An example of how this can happen is well illustrated in a project 
which reached a kind of conclusion this year, namely our collaborative 
fieldwork, storytelling and publication programme centred on the rock 
art and landscapes of Biesje Poort near Kakamas. The book Engraved 
Landscape: Biesje Poort - Many Voices, in which the McGregor Museum 
was a partner, with David Morris serving as one of the editors and a 
contributor (along with Koot Msawula), was launched at the Duggan
Cronin Gallery as an International Museum Day event in May 2014. 
Partners from the ;,,Khomani community, and from the Universities of 
KZN, Pretoria and Cape Town, came together for the occasion which 
was well supported by friends of the museum in Kimberley. The different 
components of the project exemplified all aspects of Outcome 14, from 
outreach to the people of the Kgalagadi and the public in general, to 
addressing issues of conservation, and including a focus on research 
and publication. Indeed the project has resulted in more than just the 
book: several peer reviewed journal articles flowed from it, including 
publications featuring the McGregor Museum during 2014, in Critical 
Arts and SAMAB. The project's scoring against the goals of the South 
African Strategy for the Palaeosciences (Dept of Science and Technology) 
was outlined in one of these, namely the paper in SAMAB (publications 
are listed elsewhere in this annual report). 

In other on-going and more specifically research-related collaborations 
(with international partners) we report on work revolving around the 
sites of Kathu and Wonderwerk Cave, co-ordinated by Michael Chazan 
and Liora Kolska Horwitz; and with the continuation of a new project at 
Wildebeest Kuil with Silvia Tomaskova. 'The first of these was highlighted 
at an international conference in Bloemfontein in July, which was 
followed by an excursion to several sites in the Northern Cape, with the 
museum contributing by way of a paper and articles in the guidebook. 
Our partners published a paper on the Kathu Townlands site which 
attracted massive internet and media attention including a feature on 
SATV news. Also reaching T V  screens in the year was a news feature 
on Tomaskova's fieldwork and our public archaeology programme at 
Wildebeest Kuil. 

David Morris joined Kapilolo Mahongo and Jose de Prada-Samper in 
the Karoo in June to record local farm-worker stories that echo folklore 
noted down in the 1870s, focusing mainly on this occasion on star lore, 
for the SKA exhibition Shared Sky, which opened in Perth, Australia, 
in September, and in Cape Town in February. A book, Karoo Cosmos 
- lxam ka !au and the lxam, is being generated by this project, which is
headed by John Parkington at the University of Cape Town.

Toe 'Traces Project' collaboration, previously reported, and partially 
funded through archaeology contract work, led to a presentation by 
Garth Benneyworth at the Archaeology of Violence conference in Paris 
!- r'\. _..__L • .. 

A teachers' resource kit, in the form of a book and a DVD, having 
the title My room at the centre of the universe, which draws together 
astronomy, archaeology and art, with a strong mathematics focus, was 
the outcome of a collaboration headed by Helene Smuts of Africa Meets 
Africa. David Morris contributed and was an editor on tl1e project. An 
inter-digitation of our work witl1 fine art extended to interactions with 
art students at Karoo rock art sites; witl1 practising artists inspired by 
Driekopseiland; and an invitation to David Morris and Kool Msawula 
to jointly open the exhibition Industrial Karoo: Fear and Loss, at the 
Oliewenhuis Art Museum, National Museum, Bloemfontein, in July. 
The latter exhibition, which transferred to the Pretoria Art Museum 
in March 2015, featured photographs by David Morris reflecting 
archaeological encounters in the Karoo. 

Vincent Dinku undertook collections management and an on-going 
audit of the collections. An important part of this work was the provision 
of access to the collections to a range of visiting researchers, including 
Michael Chazan (Toronto), Liora Kolska Horwitz (Jerusalem), Michaela 
Ecker (Oxford), Steven Walker (UCT), Vasa Lukich (Toronto), Meg 
Thibodeau (Vancouver), Silvia Tomaskova (North Carolina), Francis 
Thackeray (Wits), Tanya Vorster (UP), Fred Grine (Stony Brook), 
TI10mas Wynn (Colorado), Lesley Harrington, Benjamin Osipov & 
Helen Kurki (U Alberta & Victoria), Shane Reddy (Wits), Pat Smith 
(Jerusalem), Sharon Holt (National Museum), Katrien van Waarden 
(Botswana), Jayne Wilkins & Benjamin Schofield (Arizona), Sam Challis, 
Mark McGranaghan & Andrew Skinner (RARI), Sechaba Maape (Wits), 
Michelle Cameron (Cambridge), Jennifer Miller (Alberta), Salima 
Ikram (Cairo), Jenni Lourens (UNISA), Marine Cazenove (Toulouse). 
Otl1er visitors included journalists from South Africa and Spain. 

Cultural Resources Management surveys have been conducted across 
tl1e province from Kimberley to Pofadder, to mitigate development, 
with major impacts being in the form of renewable energy projects. 
There were inputs with regard to development in the vicinity of an 
1870s African burial ground in Kimberley North, and SAHRA was 
alerted about the issuing of a DMR permit to mine away half of Canteen 
Kopje. Subsequently a Late Iron Age site was discovered in an illegal 
digging at Canteen Kopje, which requires salvaging in 2015. Delivery 
of municipal services at Diamond Park, Greenpoint, in Kimberley, 
accidentally revealed a forgotten burial ground, the old Bultfontein 
Cemetery. In the latter part of March 2014, this effectively scrambled 
plans that were in place for the new financial year - at the very point 
of their intended implementation. Activities were redirected as a major 
salvage project was got underway. The sudden need for extra manpower 
resulted in a team of 14 unemployed individuals from the Diamond 
Park community being taken on, and remaining on the project payroll 
for much of the year. We are grateful to Coen Nienaber and his students 
in forensic anthropology, University of Pretoria, who assisted in some 
of the fieldwork and Tanya Vorster who carried out an osteological 
analysis. The salvage itself was interrupted several times by flooding 
of the municipal trench during periodic heavy rains. The salvage was 
completed in February 2015. 

Four skilled casual workers (K. Msawula, C. Wilson, J. Joubert and M. 
Japhta) were retained, as in previous years, to assist witl1 collections 
management tasks and fieldwork, and they helped at Diamond Park 
- as did Mr Petrus Wilson, who otherwise continued on contract at
Wildebeest Kuil, being helped there by casual worker A. Makau. In
. . 

. . - . . 



seconded from the Department's Heritage Unit to gain experience in 

museum archaeology. 

The museum continued to be in discussion with the Sol Plaatje University, 
which opened its doors in 2014. A one-year Certificate Course in Heritage 
Studies commenced in 2015, with Garth Benneyworth appointed 
as lecturer, and museum staff, including David Morris, presenting 
occasional lectures and excursions to sites in the Kimberley area. A 
close liaison between museum and university, including both teaching 

BP book launch 

and research, is certain to be enhanced as courses are developed and 
staff and student numbers grow. Other academic services performed by 
archaeology in the year included peer reviewing of papers for accredited 
journals and requests to conduct external dissertation examinations. 

We thank Maureen Klemp and Ludi von Bezing who have begun 
putting in order the geology collections - an adjunct responsibility of 
the archaeology department; and all who have assisted in the work of 
the archaeology department in 2014-15. 

SPU Driekops Eiland 



BOTANY 

BOTANIST (POST VACANT) kmgbot@museumsnc.co.za 

ANNEMARIE van HEERDEN, HERBARIUM COLLECTION MANAGER 

Her barium 

Collection management 

"He had read ... that the process of arranging one's thoughts in good order 
was often helped by an equally careful ordering of external objects." - A.  
Wilson 

An herbarium specimen may seem simple in form and low-tech in 
preparation, yet it preserves a wealth of valuable information. If properly 
stored, an herbarium specimen will last for centuries without much 
deterioration - preserving and documenting the diversity of plants. The 
physical curation of the botany collection that involves the preparation 
of herbarium specimens and their handling, storage and conservation 
within the herbarium continued throughout the year. 

In November 2014 we received an isotype (duplicate of the specimen 
designated by the author as a type specimen) gift specimen Nemesia
arenifera from the National Herbarium (PRE) in Pretoria. A type 
specimen is a specimen selected to serve as a reference point when 
a plant species is first named. Since they are considered permanent 
reference specimens, types are the most important specimens in a 
herbarium; they anchor their species. The KMG Herbarium now has 18 
type specimens in its collection. 

,....,,,..����.�������--, 

Nemesia arenifera 

A loan of four of our Acathopsis specimens was sent to Ms. Hester 
Steyn (National Herbarium Pretoria), who is currently conducting a 
taxonomic revision of the genus Acanthopsis.

Well mounted specimens are easier to handle and more accessible 
for study or reference, allowing maximum observation of all plant 
characters. 147 donated plant specimens were mounted during the past 
year. A total of 106 new storage folders were created and labelled. 

Data capture 

A highlight this year was to start capturing specimen data on the 
new BRAHMS (Botanical Reserch and Herbarium Management 
System) database in May 2014. This marked the end of the PRECIS 
(Computerised Information System) era of 17 years. From May 2014 
- March 2015, 437 new specimens and 719 collection specimens were
added to the new database. I am currently busy adding the last family
(Asteraceae) that needs to be computerised. At present the Asteraceae
family is the second largest family in the herbarium with 1772 specimens
already added to the database. See below a preliminary chart showing
the 5 largest families represented in the KMG Herbarium according to
the number of specimens.

Outreach and assistance to clients 

KMG HERBARlUM - PLANT FAMILIES 

MESEMBRYANTHEMACEAE {Vygie .. 
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herbarium for plant identifications. 
Phathu Mukwevhu from the North-West University visited the 
herbarium (24-25 November) to look at herbarium specimens for a 
number of species to try and generate a distribution dataset for tl1ese 
species. He was working on a project to create an Environmental 
Management Framework (EMF) for the Greater Taung Local 
Municipality. We provided him with specimen data for tl1e following 
grids: 2724DA, DB, DD & 2725CA. 

A volunteer, Michael Kitchen worked in tl1e Botany department during 
March 2015. He was introduced to the basic herbarium essentials and 
rules, and was trained to handle and work with fragile herbarium 
specimens. He did an excellent job assisting with stocktaking of the 
family Poaceae (report 1-10) 868 specimens, filing of botanical articles 
and creating an Excel spreadsheet of specimen localities. 
As part of our information and identification services 25 queries and 
plant identifications were done for researchers, veterinary services, 

Michael working ill tire herbarium 

Senna italic subsp. arachoides ( eland's pea) 
One of the plant identifications that was done 

for veterinary services 

various government departments, farmers and members of tl1e public. 

Educational talks included the yearly botanical talk on the common 
plants of the Nortl1ern Cape given to a group of Voortrekkers on tl1eir 
annual camp at Barkly West. 

Once again I would like to say a big than� yo_u to 
.
everyone who assisted



DISPLAY & DESIGN 

MARIE LODEWYK, DESIGN & DISPLAY (Supervisor) 
PORTIA GENGE, INDUSTRIAL TECHNICIAN: DESKTOP PUBLISHER 

TANJA CILLIERS. DESIGN & DISPLAY 

marie@museumsnc.co.za 
portia@museumsnc.co.za 

tanja@museumsnc.co.za 

Displays 

Marie had the opportunity to complete the final section of the Journey 
to Democracy permanent display on 30 April 2014, with the co
operation of the History Section professionals and Colin Fortune. The 
Reconciliation Room with the mirror prints as well as the National 
Symbols posters and multi-media display in the Apartheid Room were 
some of the additions. A temporary 20 Years of Democracy exhibition, 
of which the layout, design and printing were done by Anna du Plessis, 
coinsided with this event. As with previous display work, we had 
everybody on the staff assisting with the installation. 

The following display event that we were part of was the World War 
1 permanent display, in the area next to the Kimberley Regiment 
display. Tanja Cilliers took on this huge task with Sunet Swanepoel and 
mention must be made of the valiant effort of Colin Fortune, driving 
and manually completing some of the construction work himself, when 
it was needed, to see the final opening on 4 August 2014. 
The next exciting and very significant temporary display was the 
International Library of African Music - Hugh Tracey display from 
Grahamstown, curated by Diane Thram. This display was opened at the 
Duggan-Cronin Gallery on 23 October 2014. 

Marie had the opportunity to work together with Suzanne Erasmus on 
World Wetlands Day 2015 poster display. 

Dtp I Publications 

Portia designed the invitation and programme for a Colloquium Nelson 
Mandela and Galeshewe with Sephai Mngqolo, the event took place at 
the Mayibuye Centre. 

Portia re-designed the Magersfontein Restaurant menu and pricelist; 
undertook the designing and printing of the museum's Annual Report; 
the Department of Arts and Culture's Quarterly Newsletter and the 
Kimberley Historical Society's Now & Then newsletter. 

Portia also designed a logo for the Luka Foundation and McGregor 
Museum's 2014 Christmas card. 

Marie did the design and printing of various signs, Museum's financial 
report cover as well as 80 Language Certificates for DSAC Language 
section. 

She compiled a slideshow for C Fortune's retirement function on 3 
October 2014. 

Maintenance 

Portia did repair work to the Malay Camp photos at Chapel Street 
Museum and Marie worked on the outstanding dioramas for tl1e 
Ancestors Gallery. 

Outreach 

Marie participated in the Museum Basics training course on 12 February 
2015 for curators of regional museums with a presentation on museum 
display matters. 

Portia designed and printed posters of Mr Flatela's biography for the 
renaming occasion at Archive Offices (Library Services). She also made 
amendments to a Human Rights day poster for DSAC. 

Staff 

Tanja left the museum after 10 years' service, for a teaching position, in 
Kimberley, after completing an Arl Therapy qualification. We will miss 
her keen spirit and artistic excellence! 

Marie successfully completed an Internet Marketing short course on 23 
June 2014. 
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EDUCATIONAL SERVICES 

SUZANNE ERASMUS, EDUCATION OFFICER se@museumsnc.co.za 

Educational Programmes 

A total of 106 school groups and 6 745 people were taken on guided 
tours of the museum complexes by the Education Department, which 
are the highest numbers we have had since 2009-2010. Of special 
interest were the following: Lessons for 3 classes of CBC Gr 4's on 'How 
people lived long ago', a group of Voortrekkers taken to Magersfontein 
and a lesson on ecology and evolution for a group of Gr S's of Boresetse 
HIS. TI1e visitor numbers were initially low, causing some concern, but 
picked up significantly during Heritage Month (September) and the 
first week of October. Then, local schools were offered free access and 
transport to the museum during March, thanks to sponsorship arranged 
by Mr Lenyibi of the Dept. Sport, Arts and Culture. Large groups from 
Floors No. 21Tlhomelang HIS, Masiza PIS, TI1abane HIS, Herlear PIS,

Venus PIS and Endeavour PIS were accommodated, while Moshaweng 
PIS (Kuruman), HIS Diamantveld and Newton PIS arranged their own 
transport. Tourist guides had to be hired on some days to help us deal 
with these large groups. This project was an excellent advertisement for 
tl1e museum amongst local schools, who tend not to visit our museums. 
Most groups indicated that they would like to come again. I am grateful 
to Bafana Ndebele and tourist guides, Pulane Setlhodi and Thelma 
Gaborone, for their hard work with these school groups, as well as to Ida 
Maphumulo who helped in many ways. 

Administration work included the provision of museum information 
letters for schools as required. Faxes are sent to schools and they 
were also phoned to confirm bookings. Communications were a real 
challenge during the 4th quarter, with our landlines being down for 
a long time. Increased reliance was placed on e-mails, but obtaining 
correct addresses for schools is problematic. I obtained a list of addresses 
from the Kimberley Teachers' Centre and managed to make contact 
with Mr Frank de Jager, who places relevant information on tl1e Dept. of 
Education's HRMS website, for immediate access by schools, which has 
helped a great deal. 

Resource Centre 

Some time was spent during quiet periods in keeping the Resource 
Centre up to date. I am frequently asked for tourism related information, 
and for information and pictures for school projects. This year the topics 
ranged from tl1e Anglo-Boer War to endangered animals. Kimberley 
Junior School gave a project on local museums to their Grade 4s as 
part of their Social Sciences curriculum (Local history). We stopped 
counting after helping the 20th group of learners, and their parents, with 
this project. 

Displays & publications 

I assisted S Swanepoel with editing labels and text of the booklet on the 
First World War display. 

Working with M Lodewyk, small poster displays were put up in the 
museum foyer for World Wetlands Day (2 February), Frog Awareness 
Day (28 February) and Water Day (22 March). And working with P 
Genge, I reworked and updated the Welcome to the McGregor Museum 
pamphlet. 

I was asked by the Park Manager, Mr Deon Joubert, to edit the Mokala 
National Park guide before reprinting, which turned out to be a much 
bigger job than expected. 

Outreach Programmes 

I met with Omphile Khutsoane, the newly appointed Education 
Officer of SAEON and with Ipeleng Louw, the Communitv Awareness 

programmes and how we can work together. 

We participated in a number of programmes by taking groups on special 
tours of various museums, including the Childline Holiday Programme 
(July), delegates al tl1e AMESA conference (July), delegates of the Dept. 
of Education's Science week programme (August), the Dept. of Tourism, 
Environment and Conservation (DTEC) officials' Heritage Day tour 
(September), participants of the traditional medicinal plants workshop 
of the Indigenous Knowledge System Research Project of North-West 
University (November). F Higgo took a group from tl1e Infantry School 
in Oudtshoorn to various battlefields (March). I also assisted the Girl 
Guides to set up a special museum quiz (October), staff of SAPS Crime 
Intelligence to arrange a Great Race (November) and staff of the Auditor 
General with a team building exercise (March). 

I attended two meetings with staff of the Sol Plaatje University on the 
curriculum for the Heritage Studies course, and with A van Heerden 
advised on their Natural History curriculum. 

During February Museum Basics Training was offered to 6 colleagues 
from small regional museums. I gave a talk on Education and Outreach, 
and with M Lodewyk took our colleagues on a tour of some of the 
displays to discuss educational opportunities and display matters. 

I hosted SA Tourism and Expresso Morning Show when they visited the 
museum and Duggan-Cronin Gallery on 3 September for a tour and 
filming of some of tl1e new displays. 

Co-operative projects 

I am a member of the NC Environmental Education Forum and 
Chairperson of the Mokala National Park Forum, Keep Kimberley 
Clean (KKC) and WESSA Northern Cape. Co-operation with these 
organizations enables me to better perform my work as environmental 
educator. I arranged a series of monthly WESSA public meetings, 
attended by 20 - 45 people, witll speakers giving talks on a variety of 
environmental topics. In February I attended a Triwaters River Side 
Talk at Good Hope Nature Reserve, Barkly West. Three persons canoed 
down the Vaal River, and conducted educational programmes along the 
way to raise awareness of water quality. Learners carried out a simple 
water quality test. I attended a workshop for the 2014 Evaluation 
Committee for Frances Baard Eco-Schools hosted by DTEC (July) and 
the annual Eco-Schools workshop (March). I travelled to Bloemfontein 
with Wendy Peine of KKC to attend a workshop of PETCO and partners. 
The workshop was aimed at sharing information on recycling and waste 
management initiatives in tlle Free State, and to publicise PETCO's 
projects in the province (June). 





HISTORY 

VIDA ALLEN, HISTORIAN, ARCHIVES vida@museumsnc.co.za 

Research was undertaken on the architectural features and historical 
information on buildings along the Monument Hill Walk. The walk was 
tested on Saturday, 10 May, when many interested persons joined the 
walk and added personal reminiscences about some of the buildings. 
A booklet on this walking tour will be published in 2017. The Historian 
is indexing relevant Kimberley articles that appeared in the Diamond 
Fields Advertisers of the 1940s. Photographs were taken of gravestones 
in the old part of O'kiep cemetery in Namaqualand and filed for future 
research. A dossier of articles, oral histories and other references was 
compiled on Griqualand West swimmers during the apartheid era, eg. 
Karin Muir, Brian Hermanus, Dennis Jacobs, Shreef Abass, 'Teacher' 
Karrim and Lyndhurst Road Swimming Pool. Photos and the co
ordinates were taken of the ruins of a digger's camp (1880s, 1890s) near 
the old Premier Mine. 1his was pointed out by Mr Steve Lunderstedt. 

A great deal of time was spent on research to answer the 102 queries 
the archives received. 1hese comprised many divergent topics ranging 
from genealogical queries to early building styles, as well as histories of 
communities in the Northern Cape. Many visitors and researchers (30) 
consulted the archival collection for their publications, land claims or 
documentary television programmes. 

The publication The ANC in the Northern Cape from 1912-1994: An 
Easy-to-Read Introduction, by Vida Allen, Sephai Mngqolo and Sunet 
Swanepoel, Kimberley, McGregor Museum, 2012, was launched on 3 
May 2014. 

Media tours were conducted for a publishing company and a live radio 
interview re the McGregor Museum Complex for Radio Kragbron on 11 
November, 8:20-8:30 pm was conducted. The Historian organised staff 
members to take part in Pasella's production which included Museum 
buildings. She also assisted behind-the scenes at Dunluce on 14 May. 

Educational work included two talks on the Growth of the black/ 
African Political Opposition in the Northern Cape from 1902-1948 
in the Journey to Democracy wing of the Museum for NIHE students. 
Guided tours of Rudd House, Dunluce, the Sanatorium as well as the 
Belgravia Walk were given to various groups such as learners, subject 
advisors, tourists, and the general public. 

Outreach and co-operative activities included the assessment of 
monuments, memorials and busts in the Belgravia area, i.e. Honoured 
Dead Memorial; plaques at Boys' High Hostel buildings and pavilion; 
Cenotaph; Police Park; Cecil John Rhodes Statue; David Harris Bust. 
Recommendations will be made to the municipality who is responsible 
for the maintenance of them. Assistance and advice were given to four 
people from Rand Water who are gathering information on how to start 
their museum. 

Preliminary discussions with 5 members of the Ministry of Tourism, 
Environment and Culture, Lesotho and the consultant, Jon Weinberg, 
concerning collaboration, assistance and training for the new National 
Museum in Maseru. 

Assisted the Historian with the display of the Black Press for Sol Plaatje 
Museum. Prof Keyan Tomaselli did the text but he has not added any 
illustrations. The Historian had to look for relevant illustrations as well 
as proofreading the text. Assisting Gordon Dally with the organising of 
his book launch "Eight black sheep''. This book features many historical 
facts and places in Kimberley and the Northern Cape. Travelled to 
Calvinia to assist with the functions, attend the opening of a new display 
and give some hands-on training to the curator 4-6 September. The 
Historian spent time on the organisation and coordination of functions, 
talks and outings of the Historical Society throughout the year. 
Co-ordinated and compiled a reading list of books needed for Heritage 

20 years of Democracy display in the liberation wing of the McGregor 
Museum was opened on 30 April 2014. 

Administrative duties of the History Department included the attending 
of many meetings, writing of reports, reviewing of annual performance 
plans and work plans as well as filling in the quarterly assessment forms 
for the staff of this Department. Supervising the staff of the History 
Department and at times the cleaning staff of the museum, filing of 
correspondence, compiling of address lists for specific functions, co
ordinating the plans of the History Dept staff and preparing for strategic 
planning workshops were some of the other duties that are done 
regularly. 

Other routine duties of this department included the documentation 
and indexing of 163 documents and manuscripts. The store rooms 
were inspected regularly and general housekeeping principals put into 
practice. 

Training was given to Maureen Klemp re the accession register and 
accessioning the Ludwig von Bezing mineral collection; to Michael 
Kitchin, in sorting and indexing paper clippings; a museum basics 
and oral history workshop for 9 people from the Namaqua region in 
Springbok; and a talk and discussion on accessions and the ongoing 
processes to 6 curators and assistants of regional museums. 

In the absence of a librarian, the Museum Historians, Ms Swanepoel and 
Mrs Allen, assisted museum staff and other researchers that needed to 
use the library. 1his included checking the catalogue for specific books 
requested by staff and receiving and re-shelving books returned to the 
library. The Historian has taken over the press clipping service at the 
Museum (Librarian's responsibility). In order to get ahead of years of 
press clippings piling up, the assistance from a volunteer, Michael 
Kitchin, is much appreciated. 

The Ferdinand Postma Library at the North West University in 
Potchefstroom has offered our museum library a duplicate set of bound 
volumes of the DFA from 1887-1919. Although our library has many 
of these this was an excellent opportunity to fill the gaps. 1he Historian 
had to sort through them, found place in the library and arranged them 
chronologically. This is a real asset to the library for future researchers 
of Kimberley history. 

The Historian would like to express her gratitude to two volunteers 
who are giving some of their valuable time to work in the Library. Mrs 
Maureen Klemp is keeping a hand on journals, marking them off, and 
packing them away. Mrs Beverly Theron classifies and catalogues the 
new books as well as a huge backlog. Without these dedicated people the 
library would not be relevant and our users would be very frustrated. 

The Historian attended many functions, talks and exhibition openings 
during the year viz opening of World War One display, 4 August; Richard 
Liversidge Memorial Lecture, 14 August; the Memorial Service of Jacob 
Seekoei, 18 September; the launch of Gordon Dally's My Black Sheep 
at the Kimberley Club, 20 October; the farewell lunch for the Director, 
3 October; Sister Henrietta Commemoration service, 8 October; 
the opening of the ILAM temporary display at Duggan-Cronin, 23 
October; AGM of the Historical Society as well as the lecture by Colin 
Fortune on Memorialisation: pitfalls and challenges, 13 November; 
function in Ballroom when the Don Jacobs Family Trust handed over 
a photograph of Arthur Letele to his son Karabo. Karabo Letele talked 
about his childhood in a family involved in the Liberation Struggle and 
his parents trying to keep all the political tensions of the day away from 
the children, 16 March. 



Museum Basics and Oral History workshop in Springbok, 25-28 August 
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CONFLICT HISTORY 

SUNET SWANEPOEL, HISTORIAN (April 2011 - Sept 2014) sunet@museumsnc.co.za 
I 

In this six months most of the Conflict Historian's time was spent on 
work done for the Twenty Years of Democracy Display and the First 
World War Centenary exhibition. 

Research 

Research done during this time included: 
General research into military objects of the First World War 
(WWI) as well as WWI fighter pilots. 

In April Ms Swanepoel conducted archival research on the first 
Bultfontein Cemetery in Greenpoint. This research was requested 
after skeletal remains were uncovered at the Diamond Park 
Housing development. 

Continued with research into the Kimberley Regiment WWI 
nominal roll to ascertain how many members were casualties 
during WWI, while fighting in other units overseas. 

Queries and visitors 

34 queries about various aspects of military history were answered 
during the past year including those regarding the Kimberley Regiment, 
World War I, the Siege of Kimberley and various other aspects of the 
Anglo-Boer War (ABW). 

Quite a number of military enthusiasts visited the Museum and were 
assisted with their various research projects. This included research into 
the Battle of Paardeberg and Kimberley Siege Relics. 

Outreach & co-operative activities 

As part of a new documentary on the ABW, Ulula film productions 
filmed at Magersfontein battlefield site on 1 April 2014. 

Ms Swanepoel assisted NC Tourism witl1 a profile on Kgosi Luka Jantjie 
as part of an audio visual show for the launch of national tourism month 
at Hakskeenpan. 

Ms Swanepoel was invited to be the Northern Cape representative of 
the South African Society of History Teachers (SASHT) to support tl1e 
teaching of History as subject in Northern Cape schools. She attended 
tl1e SASHT conference in October 2014. 

Displays 

The 20 Years of Democracy display was officially opened on 30 April 
2014. 

On 4 August2014 the First World War Centenary Exhibition was opened. 
An educational pamphlet on WWI was also produced and circulated 
to school groups. Numerous visitors from all over South Africa have 
since viewed the display and feedback has been exceptionally good. The 
display will run until 2019. 

Talks 

Ms Swanepoel presented the Historical Society's Richard Liversidge 
memorial lecture titled: The objects of war: artefacts of the First World 
War on 14 August 2014. 

Collection development and maintenance 

Ms S Swanepoel conducted a stock take of Kimberley Regiment items 
. 

. . -

Hall as part of a permanent loan. Current Officer Commanding, Keith 
Williams, has undertaken to do a stock take at the Drill Hall as well, in 
order to ascertain if all items are still accounted for. 

Ms Swanepoel continued with supervision of Ms Yvonne Kok's work 
on the Kimberley Regiment documents. Ms Kok is still busy with the 
accessioning and data capturing of these documents. 

Ms Swanepoel visited Jack Hindon's Officers Club on 15 September to 
do a stock take of bayonets on loan to the Officer's Club for display. 
Four of the five bayonets were identified and have been returned to tl1e 
museum. One bayonet is currently still unaccounted for. 

Sorting, accessioning & indexing 

Ms Swanepoel assisted Ms Kok with Kimberley Regiment documents 
by accessioning 137 documents. In addition Ms Swanepoel accessioned 
a further 39 documents on 31 Bn donated to the museum by Lt. Col. 
(retired) Scholts van Wyk. 

Administration 

Routine administrative duties included the attending of many 
meetings, writing of reports, completion of annual performance plans 
for the Department and tl1e filing of all correspondence and other 
documentation. 

Ms S Swanepoel was co-opted onto the Department of Sport, Arts 
and Culture's HR planning committee. She represents the Museum at 
Human Resource planning sessions. 

Library 

In tl1e absence of a librarian, Ms Swanepoel and Mrs Allen assisted 
museum staff who needed to use the library. This included checking 
ilie database for specific books requested by staff, inter-library loans, 
ordering new books, completing the NLSA annual stats return for the 
MMK library and receiving and re-shelving books returned. 

Many ilianks are due to ilie Museum Director and colleagues for ilieir 
continued support. 

Sunet Swanepoel inside the new First World War exhibition 



YVONNE KOK 

YVONNE KOK, INDUSTRIAL TECHNICIAN yvonne@museumsnc.co.za 

Paper-based ephemera was brought to me to be cleaned and to be 
repaired where possible, when Mrs J Gibbs and Ms D McAnda went 
about cleaning, sorting and re-arranging their department which houses 
textiles, ceramics, furniture, metals, glass and porcelain. My first and 
biggest assignment was cleaning, repairing, removing of mould, sorting 
and typing of the Kimberley Regiment documents. 

RESEARCH 

I assisted Ms Swanepoel and Mrs Allen with various inquiries re: Mining: 
De Beers, Sidney Rees and plans for Sanatorium grounds, De Pass, Bells 
Bank, CR Urbasch/Urbanus, Sharon Club, Madder's Farm, Spytfontein, 
Colesberg, Norval's Pont, New South Wales (NSW) Mounted Infantry 
and School of Mines, Flamingo Environmental Trust, Denis Challenor, 
Mercatale(Italy), Pte G Connell, Pte M. Johnson, Gnr D Bunn, Charles 
Calvert, James Kerridge, Pte G. Peacock, Pte A. Early. 
Additional inquiries: Battles of Belmont and Enslin, Phillipolis, Jan 
Kempdorp graves and Andalusia. 

COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT AND MATERIAL PROCESSING 

I managed to repair 456 documents, 17 book covers, 1 book spine, 3 
booklets, 5 books, 1 certificate and 2 letters. I also cleaned, repaired, 
vacuumed and encapsulated 8 Aviation documents, 22 maps, 2 
certificates, 6 watercolour paintings, 5 identity books, 1 poster, 
3 embroidered postcards, 1 W WI Ersatz paper sandbag and 32 
photographs. I made 2 Mylar pocket sleeves for booklets, 5 enclosures 
for documents and 2 encapsulations for documents. I cleaned and 
repaired 2 hand painted family trees. Due to our dusty environment 16 

Alexandersfontein Hotel plans needed to be encapsulated. 81 booklets 
were bound. The routine tasks of weekly administration and submitting 
of reports were done. 

SORTING, ACCESSIONING AND INDEXING 

Accessioned 676 items 
Updated accessions' register 
895 new records added by Y Kok 
Military storeroom was sorted 
216 items of the Kimberley Regiment's files were sorted and filed 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Regional Museums' curators were given a short training session on basic 
handling and care of paper-based collections by Ms Y Kok. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Ms Y Kok and Ms I Maphumulo attended the 6th Annual Writers' 
Festival on 26 and 27 February 2015 to sell some books published by the 
McGregor Museum. Ms Y Kok made 12 price tags for the books that 
were on sale at the festival. 

Heartfelt thanks to all staff of the McGregor Museum. 

Ms Y Kok and Ms I Maphumulo at the 6th Annual Writers' Festival - 26 February 2015



CULTURAL HISTORY 

DOMINIQUE McANDA, CONSERVATOR 

JENNY GIBBS, WOOD RESTORER 

LENAH NKWANE, HOUSEHOLD AID 

Collection maintenance 

Total of items captured on the database: 54 new entries. 
New Accessions: 341, 
Number of items rewritten over from mock register into accession 
register: 84, 
Newly indexed 125, 
Conserved/preserved/cleaned: 6064, 
Objects fumigated: 11, 
Objects reshelved: 5380, 
Displays: 5, 
Grating of soap: 20, 
Making of soap packets: 80, 
Metal objects cleaned: 61, 
Leather items cleaned: 12, 
Ceramic items cleaned: 47, 
Wooden objects cleaned: 12, 
Mixed media items: 122. 
Stocktaking - number of items found: 1682 

The routine task of daily administration and submissions of reports was 
done. 
The cleaning of the storerooms, working areas and Rudd House was 
done to a high standard by Mrs Nkwane. 

Other routine tasks such as the cleaning of the various storerooms, 
and office space, were also done by Mrs Nkwane. The repair work of 
various furniture pieces done by Mrs Gibbs is impeccable and should 
be commended. 

Outreach, Education & Display 

Mrs Gibbs, Ms Wilson (Zoologist), Mr Alex Sliwa (Curator at the Zoo 
in Germany, Project leader for the Black Footed Cat and Research 
Associate of the Zoology Department) assisted in the identifying of 
several fur stoles in the collection. 

TI1e History Department was approached to be part of a Pasella insert. 
The department was interviewed on the history of the Diamond era 
in Kimberley, using Dunluce, Rudd House and the Kimberley Club as 
backdrops. 

Ms McAnda, Mrs Gibbs, Mrs Stewart , Mr Hart and Mrs Allen assisted 
and participated in the production of a five minute insert. Mrs Gibbs 
continues to assist with an outreach programme, which involves the 
Galeshewe Association for the Care of the Aged and Disabled (GASCA). 
She collects bits of wood and material for the group to use in their arts 
and crafts. Mrs Gibbs is currently teaching the elderly how to sew 
together teddy bears from patterns. Mrs Gibbs is always eager and 
willing to help in any way she can and this is a trait that is most welcome 
and highly appreciated. 

Museum and display maintenance 

Ms McAnda and Mrs Nkwane assisted with the set up and cleaning of 
a few displays and exhibitions that took place in the Museum and the 
cleaning of the exhibits at the City Hall. 

Training 

TI1is department was fortunate enough to have the assistance and 
guidance of a Conservator from the Ditsong Cultural Institute in 
Pretoria, Mrs Annemarie Carelsen. Her expertise and help assisted Ms 

hist.cult@museumsnc.co.za 

also guided Mrs Nkwane in proper object wrapping and packing 
techniques. 

Ms McAnda and Mrs Nkwane assisted in the training of newly appointed 
curators of the district museums. 

Ms McAnda was requested to guide and train students (Ms Mazelle 
Saane and Ms Naledi Mamogwe) participating in a Heritage Practice 
Learnership. The training was an introduction to museum basics. 

The success of this department is all thanks to the McGregor Museum 
staff. 

Students from a /eanership 
cleaning brass as a practical task 

Dominique McAnda and Jenny Gibbs restoring an Armoire at the 
William Hum hre s Gallery 

Conservative 
cleaning of a 



PHOTOGRAPHS 

ROBERT HART, INDUSTRIAL TECHNICIAN photos@museumsnc.co.za 

Information service 
Visitors: 

Thirty visitors to the collection were received including Herman Binge 
and team from Cape Town making a documentary about Johannes 
Henoch Marais, who made a fortune on the Diamond Fields and later 
was instrumental in the foundation of the University of Stellenbosch, 
donating land and money to it; Christopher Richards from the USA 
who looked at studies showing traditional beadwork being worn; and 
A. Makume from Kimberley who visited in connection with images
depicting Griqua, Korana, Xhosa and Zulu young women's hairstyles.

Inquiries 

Ninety-seven requests for images were received. These included Jacqui 
Masiza- Jongintaba Dalindyebo, G. Parker (USA)- Honoured Dead 
Memorial and statue of Cecil John Rhodes, Olaf Zenker (Switzerland)
Pedi and Ndebele studies, and Simon le Raith (UK)- Queen's Hotel in 
BarklyWest. 

Collections and storeroom 

One-hundred-and-fifty-two entries were made in the accessions book 
and corresponding entries on the database. The items accessioned 
include many images of the Orr family who lived in Dunluce. 
The ongoing tasks of filing away photographs and cleaning storage 
cabinets and shelves were completed on a regular basis. 

Miss Anna du Plessis has nearly completed the accessioning of the Jean 
Morris ethnographic images, and worked on the layout for the 20 years 
of democracy display. 

Progress was made with the database of the Jean Morris collection due to 
the assistance, at various times, of the following people: Miss C. Murray 
(volunteer) and Ms A. Bartlett (Heritage Learnership progran1me). 

Proof-reading 

A great deal of time was spent proof-reading various texts including: 
annual report 2013-14, Diamond Park burial site: archival report, 
biography of Khotso Flatela, and major battles of the First World War. 

Exhibitions 

During the period under review the exhibition For Future Generations
the legacy of Hugh Tracey opened at the Duggan-Cronin Gallery on 23 
October 2014. Robert Hart and Anna du Plessis assisted with various 
aspects such as choosing a selection of Duggan-Cronin images to 
complement the exhibition, helping those installing the exhibition and 
writing a press article. 

Educational work 

Visitors to the Duggan-Cronin Gallery were assisted as required. They 
numbered 974 and included tourists, and teachers and learners from a 
number of schools in the Northern Cape. 

House tours 

Rudd House: A total of 121 visitors were shown over this building. 
Dunluce: Seventy-three visitors 

Housekeeping 

Mrs Jennifer Buffel keot the Gallerv. consisting of the disolav areas. 

Display of rare items in the collection for Museum Basics workshop, 
11 February 2015 

A Tswana dancer listening to an archival recording of African music. He w, 
part of the Letliabo Entertainment Group that performed at the opening of th 



LIVING HISTORY 

SEPHAI MNGQOLO, HISTORIAN scphai@museumsnc.co.za 

Research 

I continue to work with Mr Don Majosi and Mr Vusi Tukakhomo 
conducting research on the history of African businesses in Galeshewe 
and Old Greenpoint during the apartheid era. 

Publicity 

I gave numerous interviews at Radio Teemaneng about the history or 
events of 1976 and 1980 in Galeshewe. Also gave interviews about the 
Nelson Mandela in conversation with Kgosi Galeshewe colloquium which 
we jointly hosted witl1 members of t11e Galeshewe Memorial Project 
(GMP). 

Outreach and Education 

This year I collaborated witl1 the Galeshewe Memorial Project with the 
aim of recording our history, and initiating an awareness of it among 
our communities. A three day event culminating in a colloquium held 
at t11e Mayibuye Multi-Purpose Centre, church service at St Paul's in 
Galeshewe and local learners took part in a symbolic march from St 
Boniface School to the Bailio-Centre. The march highlighted the events 
that took place on 8 September 1980. 

Participated in ilie Nelson Mandela Museum Winter School Camp 
that was held in Qunu, Eastern Cape during t11e school holidays. The 
theme of the camp was 'Celebrating Nelson Mandela legacy to empower 
yout11'. Local learners Shal1ieda Rosenberg and Haley Kruger from the 
St Cyprian's Grammar School, as well as Crystal Phafodi from Pescodia 
High School represented the Northern Cape. During the camp, Shahieda 
was chosen to represent our country at an International Youili Camp 
that was held in Germany earlier this year. 

Department Sport Arts and Culture in collaboration with GMP 
commemorated the 1952 Mayibuye Uprisings in Galeshewe. 

I still continue to serve as an Executive Member of t11e Luka Jantjie 
Foundation. 

MmaKgosi Josephine Toto and Kgosi Kgosiemang Mothibi who were 
very supportive, and wiili whom we enjoyed good working relationships, 
passed away early in ilie year. 

St Cyprian's learner Haley Kruger (facing camera) taking tips from 
visual arts teacher Lungiswa Mtshiselwa during their visit to an 

orphanage in Umthata 

Audience at the 34 years on: Telling our story colloquium 

Symbolic march by learners 

/ 

Members of the Galeshewe Memorial Project during the 1952 
Mayibuye Uprising Commemoration 

Department of Arts and Culture 

Speakers: Masego Mayeng, Sephai Mngqolo and the Honourable Judge 



ZOOLOGY 

COLLECTION MANAGER (POST VACANT FROM I JULY 2008) 

BERYL WILSON, ZOOLOGIST berylwa@museumsnc.co.za 

JACK OLIPHANT, PREPARATOR 

RICHARD RICHARDS, MAGERSFONTEIN GROUNDSMEN 

CHARLES van SCHALKWYK, MAGERSFONTEIN GROUNDSMEN 

MAUREEN KLEMP. DEPARTMENTAL VOLUNTEER 

MARTINA KUSTERS, BLACK-FOOTED CAT (BFC) FIELD ASSISTANT 

Departmental Activities 

Following the resignation and retirement of colleagues in other 
provincial departments, it is a challenge that the zoology of nearly a 
third South Africa which includes many rare and special endemics, 
now rests on the shoulders of a single provincial professional at the 
McGregor Museum. Despite this, by focussing on specific projects, it 
was possible to still conclude a very productive year in terms of ongoing 
and completed projects, fund-raising and outreach. 

A number of poster and oral presentations (listed elsewhere) were 
made on current and concluded projects. Ongoing research this period 
focussed mainly on two major international collaborative research 
projects: 

1. 

2. 

Black-footed Cat Project: This project is part of a multidisciplinary 
effort with international researchers to study the distribution, 
ecology, health, and reproduction of this rare species over an 
extended period. The aims of the BFCWG are to conserve 
this rare cat species by furthering awareness and conducting 
multidisciplinary research on the species' biology. "D1e BFCWG 
owns a research vehicle (Toyota Hilux) for which the insurance, 
running and maintenance costs are administered by the McGregor 
Museum, Kimberley. The specialized equipment required for our 
research is also stored at the McGregor Museum. As the project 
has grown in scope and capacity, the burden of monitoring the 
nocturnal collared cats became too much and the help of a part
time field assistant became necessary. Monitoring is now done by 
Martina Kiisters, a prospective TUT MTech student, from Namibia. 
The BFCWG conducted its annual field work in November 2014 
during which time the International Society for Endangered Cats 
(ISEC), Canada followed our activities online in a crowd-source 
funding attempt. Blogging and Tweeting from the field was 
challenging but certainly tugged open the purse-strings from all 
over the world and we raised nearly R200 OOO. 

During the course of the year, the global IUCN Red Data assessment 
was revised, and the species retains its conservation assessment as 
Vulnerable. Work began on the national reassessment of the species 
with the view to uplift the national conservation status from Least 
Concern to Vulnerable. This was successfully achieved in February 
2015, based on the dissertation that I was finally writing up on the 
geographical distribution and conservation status of the species, 
due to be finished in April 2015. 

White-backed Vulture Project: This species is the most widespread 
and common vulture in Africa, but was uplisted in 2012 by two 
conservation categories from Near Threatened to Endangered. The 
species is undergoing a rapid decline in population numbers and 
faces threats similar to all the other African vultures. We have been 
monitoring the breeding and survival success of birds on Dronfield 
since 1992, with 2014 being the 21st year of the project. The project 
has now grown to include Mokala National Park, with the help of 
Ronelle Visagie from the Endangered Wildlife Trust and the crew 
from the UK Hawk Conservancy Trust. 
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Restaurant and is reliant on the generous donations of carcasses. 
The camera trapping methods that were pioneered by myself have 
now been written up as a journal paper. 

There was excellent media coverage for this project this past year. In 
addition, SABC wildlife documentary programme 50/50 followed 
my work this year and produced an excellent feature on vultures. 
This can be seen here: http://youtube/sNrG-7NyHCU 

December and January saw an unusually high number of young 
birds becoming victims of power line collisions and electrocutions. 
Several of these birds were taken to VulPro, a vulture rehabilitation 
centre near Hartebeesport Dam for surgery and/or rehabilitation. 
All incidents were inspected by EWT and Eskom. 

3. Secretarybird Project: This year was a busy one for the birds in
this area. The species is undergoing a rapid decline in population
numbers and faces threats and is now listed as Endangered.
With the assistance of Eskom and Airports Company South
Africa ACSA, three individual nests (Dronfield, Rooifontein and
Alexandersfontein) were monitored from October 2014 to January
2015. The intention was to fit tracking devices to a chick from
each nest. The satellite device sponsored by ACSA intended for
the Alexandersfontein bird failed to download data and was not
deployed. The two GSM cellular devices sponsored and fitted by the
Endangered Wildlife Trust, worked well, but one has since stopped
transmitting. There was excellent media coverage leading up to
the fitting of the devices, and included this interview which can
be accessed on this link: https://www.facebook.com/permalink.
php?story _fbid= 10152658549443148&id= 139925246217214

A journal article has been written documenting the first recorded 
cases of melanism and leucism in the species. 

Environmental assessment projects conducted are a source of 
department income which funds various other sectional duties and 
expenditures such as conference attendances, equipment and resource 
literature. This past year only allowed time for a single assessment to 
take place, the Kameelboom CSP Solar Project, near Marydale. 

A good deal of the last part of the year was spent on authoring and co
authoring, and in some cases reviewing a number of specie reassessments 
for the revised The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and 
Lesotho due out later in 2015. 

Outreach, both within and outside of the museum occurred on an 
ongoing basis. We also hosted the 7th consecutive African Ecology 
Course for students from Maryland University, USA under Professor 
William Bowerman, as well as various visiting researchers including 
Professor Gary Voelker (Research Associate from the University of 
Texas) and retired Professor Duanne Schlitter (University of Texas). 

As official measurer for Rowland Ward and Safari Club International, 
USA, I am often requested to measure award-qualifying trophies. For 
the more fun-at-heart, a geocache was placed in the museum gardens 
in 2009, and this cache has proved very popular with visitors. For those 
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Wildlife & Transport Programme. From November 2014 to the end of 

January 2015 there was a competition with prizes worth RS OOO for the 
most contributions made during this period. This I won with a shocking 
261 entries, which is a testimony to the wildlife deaths on our roads and 
the driving demands my job makes over our busy summer period. 

In the absence of zoological specialists at the provincial departments, 
I am called upon to comment on policies, and act as a Specialist 
Consultant to the Green Scorpions (enforcement unit of DENC) which 
results in some interesting experiences and specimen acquisitions, 
particularly in the herpetological department. I continue to consult 
regularly on poaching and smuggling cases. 

Magersfontein Management 

It is a pleasure to report on the management and activities of 
Magersfontein Battlefield Museum terrain. Whilst the ecological 
management falls under this department, I also report on and assess the 
staff. Both aspects continue to flourish, with game numbers increasing 
and allowing for small annual culls of six blesbok, and the staff amply 
supplying effort and expertise to the facilities and the veld alike. Grazing 
cattle from neighbouring properties assist in controlling the high fire 
fuel load, whilst bringing in welcome financial dividends. 

In August, we hosted the Magersfontein Cycle Race which saw entrants 
passing through the terrain. In December the Kimberley Harriers PG 
Glass Magersfontein held a road race that started and finished on the 
battlefield. 

Members of the 2014 BFCWG team with a captured and sedated black-footed cat 
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SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS 

BRADFIELD, J., THACKERAY, J.F. & MORRIS, D. 2014. An experimental investigation into the origin of incised lines on a 4000-year-old engraving 
from Wonderwerk Cave, Northern Cape Province. South African Archaeological Bulletin 69:72-79. 

DALERUM, F., LE ROUX,A., DE VRIES, L. KAMLER, J., STUART, C., STUART, M., WILSON, B. & DO LINH SAN, E. In prep. A Conservation 
Assessment of Bat-eared Fox (Otocyon megalotis). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife 
Trust, South Africa. 

DOWNS, C.,PERRIN, M., MCDONOUGH, M., WILSON, B. & PALMER, P. In prep. A Conservation Assessment of Brush-tailed Gerbil (Gerbilliscus 
vallinus). In: The Red List of Mammals of South Africa, Swaziland and Lesotho (ed.). Endangered Wildlife Trust, South Africa. 

HORWITZ, L.K . & MORRIS, D. 2014. Blinkklipkop/ Tsantsabane Specularite Mine. In From past to present: field trip guide: 24-25. 

KAMLER, J.F., ST ENKE WITZ, U., SLIWA, A., WILSON, B, LAMBERSKl, N., HERRICK, J.R. & MACDONALD, D.W. 2015. Ecological relationships 
of black-footed cats (Fe/is nigripes) and sympatric canids in South Africa. Mammalian Biology 80:122-127. 

MORRIS, D. 2014. Wildebeest Kuil Rock Art Centre, South Africa: controversy and renown, successes and shortcomings. Public Archaeology 13: 187-
199. 
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